
4610P 1978 

THE H I G H  COURT 

BETWEEN: 

THOMAS HYNES 

AND 

JOHN HYNES 

DEFENDANT 

JUDGMENT of M r .  J u s t i c e  Barr ington de l ive red  t h e  2 1 s t  day 

of December 1984. 

This  is an unfo r tuna te  d i s p u t e  betweenbrothers - a d i spu te  

i n t o  which o t h e r  members of t h e i r  family,  i nc lud ing  t h e i r  mother i 

and t h e i r  sister,  have been drawn. 
r" 

The evidence a t  t h e  t r i a l  took some e i g h t  days.  There 
. . 

, was a  l a r g e  number of documents and t h e  case  r a i s e d  complex 

i s s u e s  o f . l a w  and f a c t .  The defendant defended t h e  case  on 
P 
I t h e  m e r i t s  bu t  a l s o  r a i s e d  t e c h n i c a l  defences under t h e  S t a t u t e  

I"" 
of Frauds.and t h e  S t a t u t e  of Limi ta t ions .  E i t h e r  of t h e s e  

t e c h n i c a l  defences ,  i f  s u c c e s s f u l ,  would have de fea ted  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f ' s  c la im b u t ,  a t  t h e  end of t h e  case ,  counsel  asked 

me t o  dec ide  a l l  m a j o r ' i s s u e s  i n  d i s p u t e  between t h e  p a r t i e s  

and not t o  conf ine  my judgment t o  some t e c h n i c a l  p o i n t .  This 

appears t o  m e  t o  be a  s e n s i b l e  suggest ion a s  t h e  c o s t s  f o r  both 

p a r t i e s  would be g r e a t l y  increased  i f  I were t o  conf ine  my 

judgment t o  some t e c h n i c a l  po in t  and i t  were l a t e r  discovered,  

on appea l ,  t h a t  I had taken an erroneous view of t h e  mat te r .  



The c a s e  t u r n s  on m a t t e r s  a l l e g e d  t o  have o c c u r r e d  i n  1969,  

1970 and 1971. A f t e r  s u c h a l a p s e  of  t i m e  t h e  memories of 

independent  w i t n e s s e s  a r e  n a t u r a l l y  impa i red .  We had many 

examples d u r i n g  t h e  h e a r i n g  of p a t e n t l y  h o n e s t  w i t n e s s e s  who 

had d i f f i c u l t y  i n  r e c a l l i n g  d a t e s  o r  d e t a i l s  of  t r a n s a c t i o n s .  

To make m a t t e r s  worse ,  b o t h  b r o t h e r s  seem t o  have had a t a l e n t  

f o r  e n t e r i n g  i n t o  t a n g l e d  t r a n s a c t i o n s  which a r e  d i f f i c u l t  t o  

u n r a v e l  a t  t h i s  remove i n  t i m e .  I have borne  t h i s  m a t t e r  i n  

mind i n  c o n s i d e r i n g  t h e  de fence  based  on t h e  S t a t u t e  of 

L i m i t a t i o n s  d i s c u s s e d  l a t e r  i n  t h i s  judgment. 

The Background 

The p l a i n t i f f  and t h e  de fendan t  a r e  b r o t h e r s ,  and f o r  

conven ience ,  I s h a l l  r e f e r . t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  a s  Tom and t o  t h e  

d e f e n d a n t  a s  John.  T h e i r  p a r e n t s  appear  t o  have been s u c c e s s f u l  

i n  l i f e  and  a r e  now l i v i n g  i n  r e t i r e m e n t  i n  Spain .  The mother 

r a n  h e r  own employment agency and was, a c c o r d i n g  t o  h e r  c h i l d r e n ,  

t h e  b u s i n e s s  " b r a i n "  o f  t h e  f a m i l y .  One of  t h e  d a u g h t e r s ,  Mary, 

i s  now m a r r i e d  t o  a n  a c c o u n t a n t  and i s  l i v i n g  i n  England. She 

a l s o  r u n s  a n  employment agency and h a s  p r o p e r t y  i n t e r e s t s  i n  

I r e l a n d .  A t  t h e  t i m e  of  t h e  m a t t e r s  g i v i n g  rise t o  t h e  p r e s e n t  

p r o c e e d i n g s  a l l  p a r t i e s  a p p e a r  t o  have been c a r r y i n g  on b u s i n e s s  

from o f f i c e s  a t  52 Lower O 'Connel l  S t r e e t ,  Dublin.  They appear  

t o  have been a m u t u a l l y  s u p p o r t i v e  f a m i l y , b u t ,  e p i s o d e s  appear  

t o  have o c c u r r e d  when one member o f  t h e  f a m i l y  was e s t r a n g e d  

from a n o t h e r  o r  o t h e r s .  There were t i m e s  when communication 

t o o k  p l a c e  by  n o t e s  o r  t h r o u g h  i n t e r m e d i a r i e s .  Tom and John 

b o t h  r e f e r r e d  t o  o c c a s i o n s  when t h e y  were n o t  on s p e a k i n g  terms 

w i t h  t h e i r  mother  and Mary a d m i t t e d  i n  ev idence  t o  hav ing  a  

" v i c i o u s ,  h o r r i b l e  temper" of which s h e  was t h o r o u g h l y  ashamed. 



However, t h e s e  s torms d i d  not  d i s r u p t  t h e  b a s i c  u n i t y  of t h e  

family .  The f a c t s  g i v i n g  rise t o  t h e  p r e s e n t  ca se  a r e  d i f f e r e n t  

and f i n d  Tom, t h e  p a r e n t s ,  and Mary ranged on one s i d e  and John 

on t h e  o t h e r .  

The s t o r y  beg ins  i n  t h e  mid-60's when Tom was working i n  

t h e  b u i l d i n g  i n d u s t r y  i n  London. There he renewed a f r i e n d s h i p  

wi th  a  young I r i s h  a r c h i t e c t  c a l l e d  Edmund Burke, who was a l s o  

working i n  London. Both were anxious  t o  r e t u r n  t o  I r e l a n d .  

I n  f a c t ,  t h e y  d i d  r e t u r n  i n  1966, f l y i n g  home t o g e t h e r  on t h e  

same plane.  Tom set up i n  t h e  b u i l d i n g  i n d u s t r y  i n  I r e l a n d  

a s  a  s o l e  t r a d e r  and opened an account i n  t h e  Hibernian Bank 

i n  Wicklow. H i s  bus ines s  r a p i d l y  expanded. Edmund Burke 

in t roduced  Tom t o  h i s  f a t h e r  who was an o f f i c i a l  of t h e  

Department of Loca l  Government and Supe rv i so r  of group 

waterwork schemes f o r  t h e  26  coun t i e s .  These schemes were 

schemes f o r  b r i n g i n g  piped water t o  remote groups of houses.  The 

schemes were o rgan i sed  by committees of l o c a l  people  who 

s e l e c t e d  and p a i d  t h e  c o n t r a c t o r .  But a  g ran t  w a s  a v a i l a b l e  

from t h e  Department of Local  Government provided t h e  schemes 

were up t o  s t a n d a r d .  The l o c a l  committees n a t u r a l l y  looked 

t o  t h e  Departmental  I n s p e c t o r s  f o r  guidance i n  s e l e c t i n g  

c o n t r a c t o r s  and t h e  Department mainta ined a  l ist  of c o n t r a c t o r s  

whose work t h e y  w e r e  p repared  t o  recommend. Tom go t  t o g e t h e r ,  

and t r a i n e d ,  a team of f i v e  men who s p e c i a l i s e d  i n  waterworks, 

and succeeded i n  having h i s  name p l acedan  the  Departmental 

l i s t  of competent c o n t r a c t o r s .  The procedure  appears  t o  have 

been compara t ive ly  in formal .  Once a c o n t r a c t o r  had earned  t h e  

r e p u t a t i o n  of do ing  good work he became known t o  t h e  Departmental 

I n s p e c t o r s  and,  through them, t o  t h e  l o c a l  committees. The rea f t e r ,  

it does not  appear  t h a t  anyone enqui red  whether his name w a s  



a c t u a l l y  on t h e  l i s t  o r  n o t .  

Meanwhile ,  John  had  been  work ing  i n  t h e  c i v i l  e n g i n e e r i n g  

b u s i n e s s  i n  Eng land .  A t  C h r i s t m a s  1968  h e  r e t u r n e d  t o  I r e l a n d  

a n d  j o i n e d  Tom i n  h i s  b u s i n e s s .  T h e r e  a p p e a r s  t o  b e  ag reemen t  

as t o  t h e  s t a t u s  wh ich  John  h e l d  i n  t h e  f i r m  p r i o r  t o  

September  1969 .  H e  w a s  n o t  a p a r t n e r  a n d  h e  w a s  n o t  a m e r e  

employee.  H i s  s t a t u s  i s  b e s t  d e s c r i b e d  as t h a t  o f  t h e  b o s s ' s  

b r o t h e r .  H e  w a s  e n t i t l e d  t o  be r e i m b u r s e d  h i s  e x p e n s e s ,  h e  

c o u l d  wi thd raw money o u t  o f  t h e  p e t t y  c a s h  and  Tom would g i v e  

him e x t r a  money f rom t i m e  t o  t i m e .  H e  c o n c e n t r a t e d  on t h e  

d a y  t o  d a y  r u n n i n g  o f  t h e  wa te rworks  s i d e  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s .  

Whi le  i n  E n g l a n d ,  John had  m e t  a t r a i n e e  a c c o u n t a n t  called 

M r .  John  H o u r i c a n .  M r .  Hour i can  r e t u r n e d  t o  Dub l in  i n  1969.  

John  i n t r o d u c e d  him t o  Tom.and Tom o f f e r e d  him a j o b  i n  t h e  

b u s i n e s s .  A t  f irst M r .  Hour i can  m e r e l y  l o o k e d  a f t e r  t h e  books 

b u t  h e  a p p e a r s  t o  h a v e  r i s e n  t o  t h e  s t a t u s  o f  f i n a n c i a l  a d v i s e r .  

H e  and  Tom had  t h e  r i g h t  t o  s i g n  c h e q u e s  drawn on t h e  bank  

a c c o u n t  i n  t h e  H i b e r n a i n  Bank i n  Wicklow. 

M r .  H o u r i c a n  j o i n e d  t h e  f i r m  i n  e a r l y  1969.  A t  t h a t  t i m e  

h e  d e s c r i b e d  Tom as b e i n g  a s o l e  t r a d e r  r u n n i n g  a b u s i n e s s  which 

engaged  i n  h o u s i n g ,  c i v i l  a n d  e lec t r ica l  e n g i n e e r i n g  and  

d e m o l i t i o n .  H e  d e s c r i b e d  John  as a g e n e r a l  f a c t o t u m  who worked 

i n  Tom's b u s i n e s s  a n d  a t t e n d e d ,  i n  p a r t i c u l a r ,  t o  t h e  wa te rworks  

s i d e  o f  it. 

A t  a l a te r  s tase M r .  H o u r i c a n  a d v i s e d  Tom t o  b r e a k  t h e  

b u s i n e s s  i n t o  s e v e r a l  d i v i s i o n s  a n d  t o  f o r m  l i m i t e d  l i a b i l i t y  

companies  t o  r u n  e a c h  d i v i s i o n .  But  Tom n e v e r  g o t  a r o u n d  t o  

d o i n g  t h i s .  The b u s i n e s s  c o n t i n u e d  t o  expand ,  and ,  a t  i t s  h e i g h t ,  

employed some 4 0  p e o p l e .  B u t ,  i t  w a s  u n d e r - c a p i t a l i s e d  a n d  

w a s  b e i n g  r u n  on  a s h o e - s t r i n g .  M r .  Hour i can  d e s c r i b e d  s e v e r a l  



devices  which were r e s o r t e d  t o  i n  an e f f o r t  t o  mainta in  

l i q u i d i t y .  

By means of  such dev ices  t h i n g s  w e r e  kept  going u n t i l  t h e  

bank s t r i k e  of May 1970. 

The day of f i n a l  s e t t l e m e n t ,  a t  t h e  conclusion of t h e  bank 

s t r i k e ,  was t h e  1 7 t h  January 1971, bu t  some days be fo re  t h a t  

Tom had an i n t e r v i e w  wi th  h i s  bank manager and r e a l i s e d  t h a t  

he could no t  p o s s i b l y  meet a l l  t h e  cheques which had been drawn 

on t h e  company's bank account du r ing  t h e  s t r i k e .  This  appears  

t o  have r e s u l t e d  from over  expansion of t h e  bus ines s ,  under 

c a p i t a l i s a t i o n ,  Tom's ex t r avagan t  l i f e - s t y l e  and an e r r o r  a s  

t o  t h e  ba lance  between cheques due and cheques ou t s t and ing .  

Tom took  p r o f e s s i o n a l  adv ice  and was advised  t o  seek  t h e  

p r o t e c t i o n  of t h e  Court .  I n  r e t r o s p e c t ,  M r .  Hourican t h i n k s  

t h a t  t h i s  was no t  good advice  as t h e  bus ines s  - p a r t i c u l a r l y  

t h e  waterworks end of i t  - was fundamental ly  sound. But,  Tom 

took it and on t h e  1 9 t h  January 1971 was dec l a red  a bankrupt 

on h i s  own p e t i t i o n .  

Tom s a y s  t h a t  some days p r i o r  t o  h i s  bankruptcy he 

e n t e r e d  i n t o  a v e r b a l  agreement w i th  John whereby John agreed 

t o  form two new companies, Pembroke C i v i l  Engineer ing Limited 

and Hibern ia  Cons t ruc t ion  Limited,  t o  complete Tom's ou t s t and ing  

c o n t r a c t s  and t o  be  h i s  succes so r s  i n  bus ines s .  H e  s a y s  it 

was f u r t h e r  agreed  t h a t  a l l  t h e  p r o f i t s  of t h e  s a i d  companies 

would, i n  t h e  f i r s t  i n s t a n c e ,  go t o  d i scha rge  Tom's d e b t s  and 

"pay o f f  t h e  bankruptcy" .  T h e r e a f t e r ,  t h e  p r o f i t s  w e r e  t o  

be s p l i t  60% t o  Tom and 40% t o  John. 

I t  is t h e  d i s p u t e  as t o  t h e  e x i s t e n c e  o r  non-exis tence 

of t h i s  agreement and t h e  a l l e g e d  f a i l u r e  by John t o  honour 

i t  which has  g iven  rise t o  t h e  p r e s e n t  a c t i o n .  



P r o p r i e t y  o f  a l l e g e d  agreement  

The d e f e n d a n t  h a s  n o t  p l e a d e d  t h a t  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement 

was i l l e g a l ,  b u t  i n  t h e  c o n t e x t  of c r e d i t ,  h i s  c o u n s e l  have 

commented on t h e  i n i t i a l  f a i l u r e  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t o  d i s c l o s e  

t h e  e x i s t e n c e  o f  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement  t o  t h e  O f f i c i a l  Ass ignee .  

The agreement ,  if it e x i s t e d ,  a p p e a r s ,  i n  t h e  f i r s t  i n s t a n c e ,  

t o  have been f o r  t h e  b e n e f i t  of t h e  c r e d i t o r s  of  t h e  bankrup t  

and,  t h e r e f o r e ,  n o t  i l l e g a l  i n  c o n c e p t .  Moreover, when t h e  

O f f i c i a l  Ass ignee  was informed of t h e  e x i s t e n c e  of t h e  agreement 

he r a t i f i e d  i t .  These p r e s e n t  p r o c e e d i n g s  i s s u e d  on t h e  

1st August 1978,  by  l e a v e  of t h e  High C o u r t ,  d a t e d  t h e  

3 1 s t  J u l y  1978 w i t h  t h e  O f f i c i a l  Ass ignee ,  h i m s e l f ,  j o i n i n g  

as p l a i n t i f f .  S u b s e q u e n t l y ,  Tom came t o  an arrangement  w i t h  

h i s  c r e d i t o r s  a n d ,  on t h e  1 1 t h  J u l y  1980,  t h e  bankrup tcy  

p r o c e e d i n g s  w e r e  a n n u l l e d .  A f t e r  t h e  annulment of t h e  bankruptcy  

p r o c e e d i n g s  t h e  O f f i c i a l  Ass ignee  w a s  s t r u c k  o u t  as a p l a i n t i f f  

i n  t h i s  a c t i o n  b u t ,  t h e  a c t i o n  r e m a i n s ,  i n  t h e  f i r s t  i n s t a n c e ,  

an  a c t i o n  f o r  t h e  b e n e f i t  o f  Tom's c r e d i t o r s  p u r s u a n t  t o  h i s  

a r rangement  w i t h  them. I n  t h e s e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  I do n o t  t h i n k  

I s h o u l d  r e g a r d  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement  as i l l e g a l  o r  improper.  

P l e a d i n g s  

The d e f e n d a n t ' s  d e f e n c e  t o  t h e  p r o c e e d i n g s  was d e l i v e r e d  

on t h e  4 t h  March 1981  and was e s s e n t i a l l y  a  t r a v e r s e  o f  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f ' s  claim coup led  w i t h  t h r e e  s p e c i a l  d e f e n c e s .  The 

f i r s t  of t h e s e  was t h a t  t h e  c l a i m  was s t a t u t e  b a r r e d .  Thesecond 

was t h a t  t h e r e  w a s  no n o t e  s u f f i c i e n t  f o r  t h e  purposes  of  t h e  

S t a t u t e  of F rauds .  The t h i r d  was t h a t  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement  

w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a  b i n d i n g  agreement  between t h e  

p a r t i e s .  T h i s  d e f e n c e  appeared  a t  p a r a g r a p h  5 o f  t h e  d e f e n c e  



and  was i n  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  t e r m s :  

" F u r t h e r  a n d  i n  t h e  a l t e r n a t i v e ,  i f ,  wh ich  is d e n i e d ,  t h e  

d e f e n d a n t  e n t e r e d  i n t o  t h e  a l l e g e d  ag reemen t  r e f e r r e d  t o  

a t  t h e  f i f t h  p a r a g r a p h  o f  t h e  S t a t e m e n t  o f  C l a i m ,  t h e  s a i d  

a r r a n g e m e n t  w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a  b i n d i n g  

ag reemen t  be tween  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  and  t h e  

d e f e n d a n t ,  a n d  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  w e l l  knew t h a t . "  

On t h e  1 5 t h  O c t o b e r  1 9 8 1  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  w r o t e  

t o  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  s o l i c i t o r  s e e k i n g  bet ter  p a r t i c u l a r s  o f  

p a r a g r a p h  5  o f  t h e  d e f e n c e .  They raised t h e  f o l l o w i n g  q u e s t i o n s : -  

" ( a )  P l e a s e  e x p l a i n  e x a c t l y  what  is meant by  t h e  c o n t e n t s  

o f  p a r a g r a p h  5  a n d  i n  p a r t i c u l a r ;  

( b )  why t h e  s a i d  a r r a n g e m e n t  w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  

c o n s t i t u t e  a b i n d i n g  a g r e e m e n t ;  

(c) i n  what  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  w a s  i t  c lear  t o  t h e  f i r s t -  

f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f . t h a t  t h e  a r r a n g e m e n t  w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  

t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a b i n d i n g  a g r e e m e n t ;  

( d )  what  w a s  t h e  a l l e g e d  p u r p o s e  o f  t h e  a r r a n g e m e n t  

i f  i t  w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a b i n d i n g  ag reemen t ;  

a n d  

( e )  wh ich  p a r t y  t o  t h e  a r r a n g e m e n t  was n o t  i n t e n d e d  

t o  be bound b y  i t . "  

The d e f e n d a n t ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  r e p l i e d  t o  t h i s  le t ter  on t h e  

2 5 t h  J u n e  1 9 8 3  a n d  s t a t e d  as f o l l o w s : -  

"1 .  The s a i d  ag reemen t  r e f e r r e d  t o  a t  p a r a g r a p h  5 o f  

r e s p e c t i v e l y  t h e  s t a t e m e n t  o f  c l a i m  a n d  t h e  d e f e n c e  was 

a f a m i l y  a r r a n g e m e n t  e n t e r e d  i n t o  b y  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  w i t h  

h i s  b r o t h e r ,  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ,  a n d  w a s  e n t e r e d  i n t o  by  t h e  

d e f e n d a n t ,  as t h e  p l a i n t i f f  w e l l  knew, p u r e l y  o u t  o f  

c o n s i d e r a t i o n  o f  f a m i l y  t i e s  and  i n  t h e  p r e m i s e  t h e  same 



w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  b e  a b i n d i n g  ag reemen t .  

2. I t  w a s  c lear  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t h a t  t h e  said ag reemen t  

w a s  n o t  i n t e n d e d  t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a b i n d i n g  ag reemen t  b y  

r e a s o n  o f  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  had  been  o r  w a s  

a b o u t  t o  be a d j u d i c a t e d  a b a n k r u p t ,  had  no  means o f  s u p p o r t ,  

and  l i t t l e  o r  no  immedia te  p r o s p e c t s  o f  making a l i v e l i h o o d  

and  t h a t  the a r r a n g e m e n t  w a s  s i m p l y  d e s i g n e d ,  as was s t a t e d  

by  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  a n d  a c c e p t e d  b y  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ,  t o  h e l p  

t h e  p l a i n t i f f  o v e r  a d i f f i c u l t  p e r i o d  i n  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  

l i f e .  

3 .  The p u r p o s e  o f  t h e  s a i d  ag reemen t  w a s  as h e r e i n b e f o r e  

s t a t e d  a t  2 t o  h e l p  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  o v e r  a d i f f i c u l t  p e r i o d  

i n  t h e  p l a i p t i f f ' s  l i f e  a n d  t o  g i v e  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  some 

a s s i s t a n c e  f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  s u p p o r t .  

4 .  N e i t h e r  p a r t y  t o  t h e  sa id  ag reemen t  w a s  i n t e n d e d  t o  

b e  bound b y  t h e  same. " 

A t  t h e  h e a r i n g  b e f o r e  m e  John  d e n i e d  t h a t  t h e r e  w a s  e v e r  

a n y  s u c h  a g r e e m e n t  be tween  him and  h i s  b r o t h e r .  H e  w a s  

c ros s -examined  as t o  how h i s  s o l i c i t o r  c o u l d  have  g i v e n  

p a r t i c u l a r s  o f  a t r a n s a c t i o n ,  wh ich  n e v e r  t o o k  p l a c e ,  a n d  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f ' s  c o u n s e l  s o u g h t  t o  r e l y  on  t h e  l e t t e r  o f  t h e  2 5 t h  

J u n e  1982 - as c o n s t i t u t i n g  a n  a d m i s s i o n  t h a t  t h e r e  w a s  a n  

ag reemen t  s u c h  as Tom p l e a d e d  be tween  t h e  two b r o t h e r s ,  t h e  

o n l y  matter r e m a i n i n g  t o  b e  d e c i d e d  b e i n g  w h e t h e r  t h e  ag reemen t  

w a s  o r  w a s  n o t  b i n d i n g  i n  l a w .  

The d e f e n d a n t ' s  s o l i c i t o r ,  M r .  Con lon ,  gave  e v i d e n c e  b e f o r e  

m e .  H e  s a id  t h a t  u n t i l  t h e  S p r i n g  of 1983 t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  case 

w a s  b e i n g  d e a l t  w i t h  b y  a n  a s s i s t a n t  i n  h i s  o f f i c e .  H e ,  o f  

c o u r s e ,  a c c e p t e d  p r o f e s s i o n a l  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  f o r  h i s  a s s i s t a n t ' s  

a c t i o n s .  But  h e ,  h i m s e l f ,  had  t a k e n  o v e r  t h e  case i n  S p r i n g  



-9- 

1983 a n d  r e a d  t h r o u g h  t h e  f i l e .  H e  t o o k  t h e  v i ew t h a t  t h e  

d e f e n d a n t  s case h a d  n o t  b e e n  p r o p e r l y  p l e a d e d  ' i n  a c c o r d a n c e  

w i t h  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  i n s t r u c t i o n s .  A c c o r d i n g l y ,  on t h e  1 6 t h  

J u n e  1983  M r .  Con lon  w r o t e  t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  i n f o r m i n g  

them o f  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  i n t e n t i o n  t o  a p p l y  t o  amend t h e  

d e f e n d a n t ' s  d e f e n c e  b y  p l e a d i n g  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  had bough t  

t h e  wa te rworks  s e c t i o n  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s  f rom t h e  p l a i n t i f f  on 

t h e  5 t h  S e p t e m b e r ,  1969 .  

The p r o p o s e d  amendment, wh ich  w a s  s u b s e q u e n t l y  g r a n t e d ,  

was i n  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  form:-  

" I f ,  wh ich  i s  d e n i e d  a s  a f o r e s a i d ,  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  

w a s  e n g a g e d  i n  t h e  b u i l d i n g  a n d  c i v i l  e n g i n e e r i n g  t r a d e  

s p e c i a l i s i n g  o n  t h e  wa te rworks  s i d e ,  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  s a y s  tlat 

t h e  s a i d  b u s i n e s s  w a s  n o t  b e i n g  r u n  p r o f i t a b l y  a n d  t h e  

f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  o f f e r e d  a n d  s o l d  t h e  c i v i l  e n g i n e e r i n g  

a n d  w a t e r w o r k s  b u s i n e s s  t o  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  on t h e  f o l l o w i n g  

terms a n d  o n  no  o t h e r s  - namely  

( a )  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  would p a y  t o  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  

p l a i n t i f f  t h e  sum o f  f 3 , 0 0 0  a n d  

( b )  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  would  t a k e  over t h e  h i r e  p u r c h a s e  

o b l i g a t i o n s  o f  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  and  a l l  p a l n t  

and  m a c h i n e r y  engaged  i n  t h e  c i v i l  e n g i n e e r i n g  b u s i n e s s ,  

and  

( c )  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  would p a y  a l l  o u t g o i n g s  

on f o u r  e x i s t i n g  c o n t r a c t s  wh ich  had  p r e v i o u s l y  been  e n t e r e d  

i n t o  b y  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  w i t h  t h i r d  p a r t i e s ,  and 

t h a t  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  would r e c e i v e  a l l  moneys 

d u e  on f o o t  o f  t h e  a f o r e s a i d  f o u r  c o n t r a c t s .  

T h i s  a g r e e m e n t  w a s  c o n c l u d e d  be tween  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  

p l a i n t i f f  a n d  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  on o r  a b o u t  t h e  5 t h  d a y  of 



September  1969  a n d  w a s  p r i o r  t o  t h e  i n s t i t u t i o n  o f  t h e s e  

p r o c e e d i n g s ,  a d h e r e d  t o  b y  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  a n d  

by t h e  d e f e n d a n t . "  

T h e r e  is some f o r c e  i n  t h e  s u b m i s s i o n  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  

c o u n s e l  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  s h o u l d  n o t  have  b e e n  

i n  a p o s i t i o n  t o  g i v e  p a r t i c u l a r s  o f  a n  ag reemen t  which h i s  

c l i e n t  s a y s  w a s  n e v e r  e n t e r e d  i n t o  o r  e v e n  t o  advance  r e a s o n s  

as t o  why t h e  s a i d  a l l e g e d  ag reemen t  s h o u l d  n o t  b e  b i n d i n g .  

N e v e r t h e l e s s ,  t h e  p r i n c i p a l  d e f e n c e  p l e a d e d  is a traverse and  

h a v i n g  r e g a r d  t o  t h i s  f a c t ,  t o  M r .  C o n l o n ' s  e v i d e n c e ,  and  t o  

a l l  t h e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  o f  t h e  case, I d o  n o t  t h i n k  I s h o u l d  draw 

a n y  i n f e r e n c e  a d v e r s e  t o  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  f rom t h e  c o n t e n t s  of 

t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  s o l i c i t o r ' s  l e t t e r  o f  t h e  -25th J u n e  1982.  

C i r c u m s t a n t i a l  e v i d e n c e  o f  sa le  o f  wa te rworks  

I t  i s  s u r p r i s i n g  t h a t  what t u r n e d  o u t  t o  be one  o f  J o h n ' s  

p r i n c i p a l  d e f e n c e s  a t  , t h e  h e a r i n g  i n  answer  t o  Tom's claim s h o u l d  

n o t  have  b e e n  p l e a d e d  u n t i l  t h e  1 6 t h  J u n e  1983  - a lmos t .  f i v e  

y e a r s  a f t e r  t h e  i n s t i t u t i o n  o f  t h e  p r o c e e d i n g s  a n d  t h r e e  y e a r s  

a f t e r  t he  d e l i v e r y  o f  t h e  s t a t e m e n t  of  claim. N e v e r t h e l e s s ,  

i t  is n o t  t h e  o n l y  s t r a n g e  f e a t u r e  o f  t h e  case. T h e r e  is  no 

e v i d e n c e  f rom Tom t h a t  i n  t h e  y e a r s  be tween  1 9 7 1  a n d  1978 h e  

e v e r  d i r e c t l y  c o n f r o n t e d  John  a b o u t  h i s  a l l e g e d  b r e a c h e s  o f  

t h e  a g r e e m e n t ,  n o r  w a s  t h e r e  a n y  l e t t e r  f rom Tom o r  h i s  s o l i c i t o r s  

t o  John  p r i o r  t o  t h e  i n s t i t u t i o n  o f  p r o c e e d i n g s .  

John  s a y s  h e  bough t  t h e  w a t e r w o r k s  s e c t i o n  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s  

f rom Tom i n  Sep tember  1969 w i t h  t h e  sum o f  f3,000.00 w h i c h h e  

borrowed f rom h i s  m o t h e r .  

C e r t a i n l y ,  s o m e t h i n g  happened  i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e  waterworks  

s e c t i o n  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s  i n  Sep tember  1969.  A l r e a d y  John  w a s  



i n  c h a r g e  o f  t h e  d a y  t o  d a y  r u n n i n g  o f  t h a t  s e c t i o n  o f  t h e  

b u s i n e s s .  H e  w a s  t h e  p e r s o n  who m e t  c u s t o m e r s .  A t  l eas t ,  on 

o c c a s i o n ,  h e  s i g n e d  c o n t r a c t s  w i t h  l o c a l  c o m m i t t e e s  a n d ,  I a m  

s a t i s f i e d ,  t h a t ,  a t  l e a s t ,  some of  t h e  c o m m i t t e e s  and  Depa r tmen ta l  

I n s p e c t o r s  t h o u g h t  t h e y  were d e a l i n g  w i t h  John  as p r i n c i p a l  

i n  h i s  own r i g h t .  

P r i o r  t o  t h e  5 t h  September  1969 Tom had  a number o f  machines  

and  items o f  equ ipmen t  on h i r e  p u r c h a s e  f rom F o s t e r  F i n a n c e  

L i m i t e d .  T h e s e  i n c l u d e d  two J C B 1 s ,  a F o r d  3 ,000  t ractor ,  a 

Roadmaster  1 6  f o o t  c a r a v a n ,  a Ford  400 t r a c t o r ,  a Ro l l -on  c a r a v a n ,  

a V a u x h a l l  C r e s s i d a  motor  car a n d  two F o r d  E s c o r t  E s t a t e  c a r s ,  

I n  Sep tember  1969 t h e s e  i t e m s  o f  equipment  were s o l d  by  F o s t e r  

F i n a n c e  L i m i t e d  t o  t h e  Hire P u r c h a s e  Company o f  I r e l a n d  which 

t h e n  h i r e d  them t o  John .  

About t h e  same t i m e  a number o f  wa te rworks  w o r k e r s  w e r e  

marked as h a v i n g  b e e n  p a i d  o f f i n  Tom's books  a n d  w e r e  t h e r e a f t e r  

p a i d  by  John  o u t  o f  a bank  a c c o u n t  which  h e  o p e r a t e d  i n  t h e  

Ulster Bank i n  O ' C o n n e l l  S t r e e t .  

John  a l so  t o o k  o u t  e m p l o y e r ' s  l i a b i l i t y  a n d  p u b l i c  l i a b i l i t y  

i n s u r a n c e  i n  r e s p e c t  o f  t h e s e  w o r k e r s .  

John  claims t h a t  t h i s  was t h e  i m p l e m e n t a t i o n  o f  t h e  v e r b a l  

ag reemen t  by  wh ich  h e  p u r c h a s e d  t h e  wa te rworks  s e c t i o n  o f  t h e  

b u s i n e s s  f rom h i s  b r o t h e r  f o r  f3 ,000.00.  

Tom a n d  M r .  H o u r i c a n  p u t  a t o t a l l y  d i f f e r e n t  c o n s t r u c t i o n  

on  t h e s e  e v e n t s .  They  s a y  t h a t  t h e y  were d e v i c e s  d e s i g n e d  t o  

ease t h e  l i q u i d i t y  crisis i n  t h e  b u s i n e s s .  They s a y  t h a t  by  

o s t e n s i b l y  t r a n s f e r r i n g  some o f  t h e  w o r k e r s  t o  a new employer  

t h e y  e a s e d  t h e  p r e s s u r e  f rom t h e  Revenue Commiss ioners  f o r  t h e  

payment o f  t a x .  They  s a y  t h e y  o b t a i n e d  a f u r t h e r  b r e a t h i n g  s p a c e  
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b y  t r a n s f e r r i n g  the  p l a n t  a n d  m a c h i n e r y  t o  a new h i r e  p u r c h a s e  

company. Tom claims t h a t  h e  a n d  John  d i s c u s s e d  t h i s  matter 

w i t h  M r .  B r i a n  D e l a n e y  who was t h e n  a m a n a g e r  w i t h  F o s t e r  F i n a n c e  

L i m i t e d .  U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  M r .  D e l a n e y  h a s  s i n c e  d i e d  a n d  F o s t e r  

F i n a n c e  L i m i t e d  ( n o w  Bank o f  I r e l a n d  F i n a n c e  L i m i t e d )  h a s  d e s t r o y e c  

t h e  r e l e v a n t  f i l e s .  Tom claims t h a t  he g u a r a n t e e d  t h e  

t r a n s a c t i o n  w i t h  t h e  h i r e  p u r c h a s e  company a n d  r e m a i n e d  t h e  

s o l e  owner  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s  a n d  t h e  p e r s o n  u l t i m a t e l y  l i a b l e .  

U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  t h e  g u a r a n t e e  i s  a l s o  m i s s i n g  a n d  t h e r e  i s  now 

n o  means o f  c h e c k i n g  t h i s  c o n t e n t i o n .  M r .  H o u r i c a n ,  h o w e v e r ,  

c o r r o b o r a t e s  Tom's  s t a t e m e n t  t h a t  Tom r e m a i n e d  t h e  s o l e  owner  

o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s .  

The sa le  o f  t h e  p l a n t  t o  t h e  H i r e  P u r c h a s e  Company o f  I r e l a n d  

d i d  n o t  b r i n g  a n y  new c a p i t a l  i n t o  t h e  b u s i n e s s  as t h e  sum 

r e a l i s e d  was  m a r g i n a l l y  l o w e r  t h a n  t h e  amount  n e e d e d  t o  p a y  

o f f  F o s t e r  F i n a n c e  L i m i t e d .  However ,  Tom claims t h a t  t h e  new 

c o n t r a c t s  w e r e  f o r  a l o n g e r  p e r i o d  t h a n  t h e  o l d  o n e s  a n d  t h a t  

- t h e  c o n t r a c t s  b e i n g  new o n e s  - t h e  b u s i n e s s  o b t a i n e d  a 

b r e a t h i n g  s p a c e  w h i l e  t h e  p r e s s u r e  f o r  r e p a y m e n t  o f  h i r e  p u r c h a s e  

i n s t a l m e n t s  was b u i l d i n g  up .  

M o r e o v e r ,  i t  w o u l d  a p p e a r  t h a t  t h e  p l a n t  a n d  m a c h i n e r y  - 

t h o u g h  u s e d  o n  s i tes  o s t e n s i b l y  c o n t r o l l e d  b y  J o h n  - c o n t i n u e d  

t o  b e a r  Tom's name. 

A new t w i s t  t o  t h e  s t o r y  t o o k  p l a c e  a f t e r  t h e  commencement 

o f  t h e  b a n k  s t r i k e  o f  May 1 9 7 0 .  M r .  H o u r i c a n  a p p a r e n t l y  t h e n  

t h o u g h t  t h a t  it w o u l d  be p o s s i b l e  t o  p r e s e r v e  bet ter  f i n a n c i a l  

c o n t r o l  o v e r  t h e  b u s i n e s s  if a l l  c h e q u e s  r e q u i r e d  t o  meet t h e  

b u s i n e s s ' s  l i a b i l i t i e s  w e r e  d r a w n  o n  t h e  o n e  b a n k  a c c o u n t ,  

Tom a n d  J o h n  a g r e e d  t o  t h i s  a n d  a l l  c h e q u e s  w e r e  d r a w n  on Tom's 



a c c o u n t  w i t h  t h e  H i b e r n i a n  Bank i n  Wicklow.  T h u s ,  t h e  w o r k e r s  

who, i n  S e p t e m b e r  1 9 6 9  h a d  o s t e n s i b l y  b e e n  t r a n s f e r r e d  t o  J o h n ' s  

employment ,  w e r e  now p a i d  b y  c h e q u e s  d r a w n  o n  Tom's a c c o u n t  

i n  t h e  H i b e r n i a n  Bank i n  Wicklow.  The a u t h o r i s e d  s i g n a t o r i e s  

f o r  c h e q u e s  d r a w n  o n  t h i s  b a n k  a c c o u n t  were, as p r e v i o u s l y  s ta ted,  

Tom a n d  M r .  H o u r i c a n .  J o h n  n e v e r  h a d  a u t h o r i t y  t o  draw c h e q u e s  

o n  i t .  

J o h n  admits  t h a t  t h i s  t o o k  p l a c e  b u t  p u t s  a d i f f e r e n t  

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n  o n  i t .  H e  s a y s  t h a t  Tom's  name w a s ,  a t  t h a t  

s t a g e ,  b e t t e r  known i n  t h e  b u s i n e s s  w o r l d  t h a n  h i s  a n d  t h a t  

h e ,  Tom a n d  M r .  H o u r i c a n  h a d  a g r e e d  t h a t  c h e q u e s  d rawn on Tom's 

a c c o u n t  w o u l d  b e  more  a c c e p t a b l e  d u r i n g  t h e  d u r a t i o n  o f  t h e  

b a n k  s t r i k e .  

Under  t h e s e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  I d o  n o t  t h i n k  i t  i s  p o s s i b l e ,  

f r o m  t h e  c i r c u m s t a n t i a l  e v l d e n c e  a l o n e ,  t o  r e s o l v e  t h e  i s s u e  

o f  sa le  o r  n o s a l e  i n  f a v o u r  o f  e i t h e r  p a r t y .  One mus t  l o o k  

e l s e w h e r e  t o  r e s o l v e  t h e  i s s u e  b e t w e e n  them.  

The l o a n  o f  f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  

J o h n  s a y s  t h a t  h e  b o u g h t  t h e  w a t e r w o r k s  b u s i n e s s  f r o m  Tom 

f o r  t h e  sum o f  E 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  w h i c h  h e  b o r r o w e d  f r o m  h i s  m o t h e r .  

H e  s a i d  t h a t  i n  1 9 6 9  t h e  w a t e r w o r k s  b u s i n e s s  was n o t  d o i n g  w e l l  

a n d  Tom o f f e r e d  t o  s e l l  h im t h e  g o o d w i l l  f o r  £ 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  a n d  t h a t  

h e ,  J o h n ,  was  t o  t a k e  o v e r  t h e  p l a n t  a n d  e q u i p m e n t .  J o h n  s a y s  

t h a t  Tom r e p e a t e d  t h i s  o f f e r  t o  h im i n  t h e  p r e s e n c e  o f  

M r s  Mary O 'Connor  a n d  h e r  h u s b a n d .  M r .  a n d  Mrs. O g C o n n o r  b o t h  

g a v e  e v i d e n c e  i n  t h e  case but u n f o r t u n a t e l y  t h i s  a l l e g e d  

c o n v e r s a t i o n  was n o t  p u t  t o  them.  I g a v e  c o u n s e l  f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

a n  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  r e c a l l  M r .  a n d  M r s .  O 'Connor  o n  t h i s  p o i n t  

b u t  h e  d id  n o t  a v a i l  o f  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y .  J o h n  s a y s  t h a t  p a r t  



o f  t h e  ag reemen t  be tween  h i m s e l f  a n d  Tom was t h a t  h e  w a s  t o  

c o m p l e t e  f o r  Tom f o u r  wa te rworks  a g r e e m e n t s  which w e r e  

o u t s t a n d i n g  a t  t h e  t i m e  o f  t h e  a l l e g e d  sale .  

John s a y s  t h a t  h e  went t o  s e v e r a l  f i n a n c e  h o u s e s  i n  a n  

e f f o r t  t o  r a i se  t h e  sum o f E 3 , m . m  t o  buy t h e  b u s i n e s s  b u t  t h a t  

h e  w a s  u n s u c c e s s f u l .  H e  t h e n  a p p r o a c h e d  h i s  mo the r .  H i s  mother  

a d v i s e d  him n o t  t o  " p u t  a noose  a r o u n d  h i s  neck"  by  b u y i n g  t h e  

b u s i n e e s  b u t , n e v e r t h e l e s s , s h e  l e n t  him t h e  £3 ,000 .00  on t h e  

5 t h  o f  Sep tember  1969 .  S h e  gave  him t h e  money i n  c a s h  and  t h e  

money was c o u n t e d  i n  t h e  p r e s e n c e  o f  Tom, John and  t h e i r  mother .  

Accord ing  t o  J o h n ,  Tom a n d  h e  t h e n  went t o  J o h n ' s  bank a t  t h e  

Ulster bank i n  O ' C o n n e l l  S t r e e t  a n d  l o d g e d  t h e  £3 ,000 .00  t o  

J o h n ' s  a c c o u n t .  John  t h e n  drew a cheque  f o r  f 2 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  on t h e  

Ulster Bank a c c o u n t  i n  f a v o u r  o f  Tom which  Tom l o d g e d  t o  h i s  

a c c o u n t  i n  t h e  H i b e r n i a n  Bank i n  Wicklow. John  p a i d  t h e  b a l a n c e  

o f  t h e  f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  i n  smaller sums t o  Tom a t  a l a t e r  s t a g e .  

Tom t e l l s  a t o t a l l y  d i f f e r e n t  s t o r y .  H e  s a y s  t h a t  i n  

Sep tember  1969  h i s  b u s i n e s s  needed  a c a s h  i n j e c t i o n  a n d  t h a t  

h e  a p p r o a c h e d  h i s  mo the r  f o r  a l o a n .  H i s  mother  l e n t  him t h e  

f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  a n d  i t  w a s  i n t e n d e d  t o  b e  a c a s h  i n j e c t i o n  i n t o  h i s  

b u s i n e s s .  F o r  p r i v a t e  r e a s o n s  o f  h e r  own h i s  mo the r  d i d  n o t  

w i s h  t h e  money t o  b e  t r a c e a b l e  back  t o  h e r  and  f o r  t h a t  r e a s o n  

it was p a i d  o v e r  i n  c a s h  and  w a s  c o u n t e d  i n  t h e  p r e s e n c e  o f  

John ,  h i s  m o t h e r  a n d  h i m s e l f .  Tom s a y s  t h a t  t h e  a c o u n t  i n  t h e  

Ulster  Bank i n  O ' C o n n e l l  S t r e e t  w a s  opened  t o  r e l i e v e  p r e s s u r e  

on h i s  Wicklow a c c o u n t  a n d  t h a t ,  t h o u g h  t h e  a c c o u n t  w a s  i n  

J o h n ' s  name, t h e  £3 ,000 .00  l o d g e d  t o  i t  w a s  Tom's money which 

h e  had  bo r rowed  f r o m  h i s  mo the r .  T h i s  d e v i c e  a l s o  made it more 

d i f f i c u l t  t o  trace t h e  money back  t o  h i s  mother .  H e  a g r e e s  



t h a t  John  i m m e d i a t e l y  drew a c h e q u e  f o r  £2 ,000 .00  i n  f a v o u r  

o f  Tom which  Tom h a d  l o d g e d  t o  h i s  a c c o u n t  i n  Wicklow. Tom's 

ca shbook  f o r  S e p t e m b e r  5 t h ,  1969 shows t h i s  sum o f  f2 ,000 .00  

as coming i n  f rom J o h n .  However a n o t h e r  o f  t h e  books o f  Tom's 

b u s i n e s s  books  ( d e s c r i b e d  i n  e v i d e n c e  f o r  c o n v e n i e n c e  as t h e  

b l a c k  book)  shows a l o a n  of  f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  made t o  t h e  b u s i n e s s  on 

t h e  5 t h  o f  Sep tember  1969 b y  "Mrs. Hynes" .  I t  is c l e a r  t h a t  

t h i s  e n t r y  w a s  l a t e r  changed  t o  show t h e  sum o f  f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  as 

coming f rom "Mr. T. Hynes" .  

M r s .  Hynes s u p p o r t s  Tom's v e r s i o n  o f  t h i s  t r a n s a c t i o n . S h e  

s a y s  t h a t  i n  Sep tember  1969 Tom a p p r o a c h e d  h e r  f o r  a l o a n  o f  

f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  as h e  needed  t h e  c a s h  i n j e c t i o n  f o r  h i s  b u s i n e s s .  

She  a g r e e d  t o  g i v e  i t  t o  him. She  s a y s  t h a t  t h e r e  w a s  no 

q u e s t i o n  o f  i t  b e i n g  a l o a n  t o  John ;  i t  was a l o a n  t o  Tom. 

She  o b t a i n e d  t h e  c a s h .  When Tom came t o  c o l l e c t  t h e  c a s h  he  

had  John  w i t h  him. M r s .  Hynes w a s  v e r y  annoyed a t  t h i s  a s  s h e  

- w i s h e d  t h e  l o a n  t o  b e  c o n f i d e n t i a l  t o  h e r s e l f  and  Tom. She  

was e v e n  more annoyed  l a te r  when s h e  d i s c o v e r e d  t h a t  t h e  l o a n  

h a d  b e e n  e n t e r e d  i n  Tom's books  as a l o a n  f rom h e r .  She  w a s  

annoyed n o t  o n l y  b e c a u s e  t h e  l o a n  w a s  d i r e c t l y  t r a c e a b l e  t o  

h e r  b u t  a l s o  b e c a u s e  t h e  e n t r y  meant  t h a t  M r .  H o u r i c a n ,  who 

- k e p t  t h e  book i n  q u e s t i o n ,  knew o f  t h e  t r a n s a c t i o n  which  

o r i g i n a l l y  s h e  had  i n t e n d e d  t o  b e  c o n f i d e n t i a l  as between Tom 

a n d  h e r s e l f .  

Mrs. Hynes made a c r y p t i c  m e m o  i n  h e r  d i a r y  f o r  t h e  5 t h  

o f  Sep tember  1969  i n  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h i s  l o a n .  U n f o r t u n a t e l y  h e r  

e n t r y  wh ich  r e a d s  s i m p l y  " 3  t o  John a n d  Tom" s u p p o r t s  n e i t h e r  

v e r s i o n  o f  t h e  s t o r y .  M r s .  Hynes however s a y s  t h a t  t h e  e n t r y  

r e f e r s  t o  " J o h n  a n d  Tom" s i m p l y  b e c a u s e  b o t h  o f  them w e r e  p r e s e n t  
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when t h e  money was p a i d  o v e r  and c o u n t e d .  She is  q u i t e  adamant 

t h a t  t h e  l o a n  w a s  t o  Tom and t o  Tom o n l y .  

The s t o r y  o f  t h e  repayment o f  t h i s  l o a n  i s  e q u a l l y  

e x t r a o r d i n a r y .  

I n  June  1970 Tom o b t a i n e d  a  p e r s o n a l  l o a n  of  f5,000.00 

from F o s t e r  F i n a n c e  Limi ted .  About t h e  same t ime  John approached 

him and s a i d  t h a t  t h e i r  mother  was a s k i n g  f o r  h e r  money back. 

Tom gave £2,750.00 t o  J o h n , i n  c a s h , t o  r e t u r n  t o  h i s  mother.  

A s  t h i s  t r a n s a c t i o n  t o o k  p l a c e  i n  Tom's o f f i c e  i n  O'Connell  

S t r e e t  and as h i s  mother  was i n  t h e  same b u i l d i n g  a t  t h e  t i m e  
I 1 

it may seem s t r a n g e  t h a t  Tom s h o u l d  u s e  John a s  a n  i n t e r m e d i a r y .  

Tom's o n l y  e x p l a n a t i o n  f o r  t h i s  i s  t h a t  he may n o t  have been 

s p e a k i n g  t o  h i s  mother  a t  t h e  t i m e  - t h a t  t h e y  o f t e n  had rows. 

I n  any e v e n t  i t  i s  common c a s e  t h a t  t h e  sum of f2 ,750.00 w a s  

r e t u r n e d  t o  M r s ,  Hynes on t h e  1 6 t h  of June  1970. Again Mrs. Hynes 

has  a n  e n t r y  i n  h e r  d i a r y  f o r  t h a t  d a t e .  The r e l e v a n t  p a r t  

r e a d s  a s  f o l l o w s : -  

"CASH 

John gave  m e  f2 ,750.00 ?? i n  o f f i c e  11.15 a.m. ' s a i d  he 

g o t  a l o a n  o f  i t . "  

Even more e x t r a o r d i n a r y  is  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  M r s .  Hynes s a y s  

t h a t  s h e  b e l i e v e d  t h a t  Tom had g i v e n  f3 ,000 .00  i n  c a s h  t o  John 

f o r  h e r  b u t  t h a t ,  on t h e  way from Tom's o f f i c e  t o  h e r  o f f i c e ,  

John had h e l p e d  h i m s e l f  t o  f250.00.  

I n  1 9 7 1  M r s .  Hynes s e n t  a b i l l  t o  John i t e m i s i n g  v a r i o u s  

sums o f  money a l l e g e d  t o  be due by John t o  h e r .  Among t h e  i tems 

l i s t e d  is  t h e  sum of  £250.00 d e s c r i b e d  a s  t h e  b a l a n c e  due o f  

" l a r g e  l o a n " .  

J o h n ' s  c o u n s e l  submi t  t h a t ,  i n  t h e  c o n t e x t ,  t h i s  i s  t o  

be  r e a d  a s  f250 .00 ,  b e i n g  t h e  b a l a n c e  due of  a l a r g e  l o a n  t o  
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John. Mrs. Hynes s a y s  t h a t  t h i s  is not  s o .  She admits t h a t  

t h e  sum of E250.00 r e f e r s  t o  t h e  ba lance  of t h e  l o a n ' o f  

E3,000.00 bu t  s a y s  t h a t  she  b i l l e d  John i n  t h e  mistaken b e l i e f  

t h a t  he had he lped  himself  t o  t h e  sum of E250.00 i n  t h e  

c i rcumstances  a l r e a d y  desc r ibed .  I n  any event  John pa id  t h i s  

amount i n c l u d i n g  t h e  sum of E250.00 i n  February 1974. 

The Alleged Agreement 

Tom s a i d  t h a t  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement took p l a c e  because 

of h i s  impending bankruptcy which would debar  him from c a r r y i n g  

on bus iness .  He s a y s  t h a t  a t  t h a t  s t a g e  t h e  waterworks end of 

t h e  bus ines s  w a s  doing very  w e l l  and he cons idered  it t o  be 

fundamental ly  sound. The i n t e n t i o n  was t o  have formed two 

l i m i t e d  l i a b i l i t y  companies. The f i r s t  was t o  be known a s  

Pembroke C i v i l  Engineer ing Company Limited and was t o  t a k e  

over  t h e  group waterwork schemes. The second was t o  be known 

as t h e  Hibernian Cons t ruc t ion  Company Limited and was t o  t a k e  

over  t h e  rest of t h e  bus ines s .  I n  t h e  even t s  which happened 

t h e  Hibernian Cons t ruc t ion  Company Limited never t r aded .  Tom 

s a i d  he e n t e r e d  i n t o  n e g o t i a t i o n s  w i t h  two bus iness  co l leagues  

a M r .  Murphy and a M r .  Leonard - under which, one or t h e  o t h e r  

w a s  t o  t a k e  over  t h e  bus ines s ,  a f t e r  t h e  bankruptcy,and was 

t o  pay o f f  Tom's c r e d i t o r s  ou t  of t h e  p r o f i t s .  For t h i s  s e r v i c e  

he was t o  r e c e i v e  30 p e r  c e n t  of t h e  p r o f i t s  once t h e  c r e d i t o r s  

had been p a i d ,  t h e  balance of 70 p e r  cen t  t o  go t o  Tom. 

A f t e r  t h e s e  n e g o t i a t i o n s  w i t h  M r .  Murphy and M r .  Leonard 

had s t a r t e d  Tom s a y s  t h a t  he was approached by John e a r l y  i n  

January 1971 i n  t h e  new J u r y ' s  Hote l  w i th  t h e  p ropos i t i on  t h a t  

John should  f i l l  t h e  r o l l  contemplated f o r  M r .  Murphy o r  

M r .  Leonard. 



Tom s a y s  t h a t  m a t t e r s  came t o  a  head a t  a  mee t ing  i n  

M r .  Leonard ' s  s u i t e  i n  t h e  H i b e r n i a n  H o t e l  on o r  abou t  t h e  

1 1 t h  o r  1 2 t h  o f  J a n u a r y  1971. Things  were coming t o  a head 

and a c c o r d i n g  t o  Tom:- "I more o r  less had t o  make up my mind 

whose name I was t o  use . . .  ..." 
So f a r  as Tom can r e c a l l  Mick Murphy, B r i a n  Leonard and 

Frank Byrne were a t  t h e  mee t ing  and t h e y  were d i s c u s s i n g  Tom's 

problems when John a r r i v e d  and s a i d  he  wanted t o  s e e  Tom. 

The p a i r  o f  them went i n t o  t h e  bathroom of  t h e  s u i t e ,  where 

John r e p e a t e d  h i s  p r o p o s i t i o n .  H e  s a i d  t h a t  Tom s h o u l d  t r u s t  

him. John s a i d  i t  would l o o k  bad f o r  him ( J o h n )  go ing  around 

town i f  Tom c o u l d n ' t  t r u s t  h i s  own b r o t h e r .  Tom e x p l a i n e d  

t h e  d e a l  he had w i t h  M r .  Murphy on t h e  70 / 30 b a s i s  and John 

asked  f o r  50 / 50. H e  s a i d  he  d i d  n o t  want t o  be a  poor  member 

of  t h e  f a m i l y .  A f t e r  some d i s c u s s i o n  t h e y  agreed  on a 60 / 40 
- - 

s p l i t  a f t e r  t h e  c r e d i t o r s  had been p a i d  o f f  - 60 p e r  c e n t  f o r  

Tom and 40 p e r  c e n t  f o r  John.  The ar rangement  was t h a t  t h e  

bankrup tcy  would b e  p a i d  o f f  i n  f u l l  and Tom would t h e n  r e c e i v e  

60 p e r  c e n t  o f  t h e  p r o f i t s  and John would g e t  40. I n  t h e  

meantime John was t o  keep g o i n g  t h e  way he was ( t a k i n g  rough ly  

f60.00 p e r  week and e x p e n s e s ) .  

John t o t a l l y  d e n i e s  t h a t  t h e r e  was any such  agreement  

o r  any s u c h  c o n v e r s a t i o n .  H e  recalls a t t e n d i n g  a  mee t ing  i n  

t h e  H i b e r n i a n .  But he  s a y s  t h a t  h i s  purpose  a t  t h e  mee t ing  

was t o  u r g e  John t o  g e t  i n  money t o  s t a v e  o f f  t h e  bankruptcy .  

H e  was p a r t i c u l a r l y  c o n s c i o u s  o f  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  M r .  Leonard 

owed Tom E16,000.00 which he  had n o t  p a i d .  John s a y s  t h a t  

h e ,  John,  had l e f t  t h e  mee t ing  i n  a  h i g h l y  a g i t a t e d  s t a t e .  

M r .  N icho las  Murphy s a i d  i n  e v i d e n c e  t h a t  he  remembered 

b e i n g  approached by Tom w i t h  a  p r o p o s i t i o n  i n  J a n u a r y  1971 .  
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Tom e x p l a i n e d  t h a t  he  was i n  f i n a n c i a l  d i f f i c u l t i e s  and was 

going bankrup t  b u t  t h a t  he  had one " v e r y  v i a b l e  p o r t i o n a l o f  

h i s  b u s i n e s s  concerned  w i t h  group waterwork schemes. Tom p u t  

a  p r o p o s i t i o n  t o  him t h a t  he  ( M r .  Murphy) s h o u l d  t a k e  o v e r  

t h i s  s e c t i o n  of t h e  b u s i n e s s  on Tom's bankrup tcy ,  t h a t  he shou ld  

pay o f f  Tom's c r e d i t o r s  and t h a t  t h e r e a f t e r  t h e y  would d i v i d e  

t h e  b u s i n e s s  on t h e  b a s i s  o f  30 p e r  cent t o  M r .  Murphy and 

70 p e r  c e n t  t o  Tom. H e  remembered a mee t ing  a t  t h e  Hibern ian  

t o  d i s c u s s  t h i s  p r o p o s i t i o n .  H e  remembered John a r r i v i n g .  

I t  was two o r  t h r e e  days  p r i o r  t o  Tom's bankrup tcy .  John and 

Tom r e t i r e d  t o  t h e  bathroom. They were t h e r e  f o r  abou t  a  h a l f  

an hour.  

The p r o p o s i t i o n  c o n c e r n i n g  M r .  Murphy t a k i n g  o v e r  c o n t r o l  

o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s  went no f u r t h e r .  M r .  Murphy s a i d  t h a t ,  w h i l e  

he  would have  u n d e r t a k e n  t h e  t a s k  f o r  Tom, he p e r s o n a l l y  was 

r e l i e v e d  t o  b e  o u t  o f  i t .  

M r .  Edmund Burke was t h e  a r c h i t e c t  who had h e l p e d  o r i g i n a l l y  

t o  set  Tom up i n  t h e  g r o u p ' s  waterworks b u s i n e s s .  He a t  a l l  

times r e g a r d e d  t h a t  b u s i n e s s  a s  Tom's. He was u p s e t  when he 

h e a r d  of Tom's impending bankrup tcy .  

A t  a b o u t  t h e  t i m e  of  t h e  bankrup tcy  he  m e t  John and Tom 

i n  J u r y ' s  H o t e l .  They had a few d r i n k s .  I t  was a s a d  occas ion .  

Witness  e n q u i r e d  a b o u t  what would happen t o  t h e  waterworks 

b u s i n e s s  t o  which John r e p l i e d  t h a t  he was "minding t h e  b u s i n e s s  

f o r  Tom". Wi tness  u n d e r s t o o d  t h a t  t h e r e  was some scheme t o  

pay o f f  Tom's bankrup tcy .  Wi tness  e n q u i r e d  how l o n g  it would 

t a k e ,  t o  which Tom r e p l i e d  t h a t  he though t  i t  would t a k e  a  

y e a r  o r  s o  f o r  him t o  come back. 

John t o t a l l y  d e n i e s  t h a t  he e v e r  s a i d  t o  M r .  Burke t h a t  

he  was "minding t h e  b u s i n e s s  f o r  Tom". H e  s a y s  t h a t  t h a t  j u s t  

d i d  n o t  happen. 



The Aftermath 

I n  any even t  John took  over  c o n t r o l  of t h e  waterworks 

bus iness  and appears  t o  have made a  g r e a t  success  of i t .  Tom 

says  t h a t  i n  o r  about  t h e  t ime of h i s  bankruptcy he wrote a  

number of l e t t e r s  recommending t h e  new c o n t r a c t o r  t a k i n g  over  

t h e  group waterwork schemes. No such l e t t e r s  have been produced 

i n  evidence nor do any c o p i e s  o f ' t h e m  appear  t o  be a v a i l a b l e .  

L e t t e r s  t o  t h e  same e f f e c t  were s igned  by John. These a r e  

da ted  t h e  1 3 t h  of  January  1971 and a r e  ( s u b j e c t  t o  v a r i a t i o n s  

i n  r e s p e c t  of f i g u r e s  e t c . )  i n  common form but  John main ta ins  

they  were no t  d r a f t e d  u n t i l  many months l a t e r  and t h a t  some 

of them were never  pos t ed  o r  de l ive red .  The l e t t e r s  appear  t o  

have been on no tepaper  headed Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers Limited 

though i n  one c a s e  t h e  word "Ltd" appears  t o  have been s t r u c k  

ou t  l e a v i n g  t h e  heading a t  Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers .  A carbon 

copy of a l e t t e r  addressed  t o  The Committee, Milltown Group 

Water Scheme r e a d s  a s  fol lows:-  

"Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers  Limited 94 St. Stephen 's  Green 

Te l :  47173 Dublin 2 

1 3 t h  January,  1971 

The Committee, 

Milltown Group Water Scheme, 

Co. K i lda re .  

R e :  Group Water Scheme - 
Dear S i r s ,  

A s  r e q u e s t e d  we have today measured t h e  work which has 

not  been completed by t h e  prev ious  c o n t r a c t o r  and thank 

you f o r  your o r d e r  t o  " t a k e  over  and complete t h e  job" 

as p e r  GW 60 enc losed .  
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It is t o  be unders tood ,  of cou r se ,  t h a t  t h e  sum of f750 

pa id  t o  t h e  p rev ious  c o n t r a c t o r  i s ,  as agreed by t h e  

engineer  and h i s  a g e n t ,  i n  f u l l  s e t t l e m e n t  of work c a r r i e d  

on on s i t e  by him t o  d a t e  and w i l l  t h e r e f o r e  not be 

embodied i n  o u r  f i n a l  i n v o i c e .  

Yours f a i t h f u l l y ,  

JOHN HYNES." 

Tom s a i d  i n  ev idence  t h a t  t h e  "prev ious  c o n t r a c t o r "  r e f e r r e d  

t o  i n  t h i s  l e t t e r  was h imse l f .  

This  appears  t o  be confirmed by a  f u r t h e r  l e t t e r  da ted  

t h e  1 0 t h  of May, 1971 p u r p o r t i n g  t o  be s igned  by Tom Hynes 

and addressed  t o  t h e  Committee Toger Road Group Water Scheme, 

Co, Louth. The l e t t e r  i s  a s  f o l l o & s : -  

'The Committee Toger ~ o a d  Group Water Scheme, 

Co. Louth. 

1 0 t h  May, 1971 

Dear S i r s ,  

R e :  Group Water Scheme 

I have today  viewed t h e  works a s  completed by Pembroke 

C i v i l  Engineers  Limited and agreed  t h e r e  was no f u r t h e r  

work c a r r i e d  o u t  on t h i s  s i t e  by my f o r c e s  when I w a s  

t r a d i n g  as Tom Hynes Bu i ld ing  Con t r ac to r ,  52, Lower OtConnell 

S t r e e t ,  Dublin 1, s i n c e  October of l a s t  year .  On November 

24 th  l a s t  y e a r  I was p a i d  f1 ,000  which r ep re sen ted  a l l  

moneys due t o  me f o r  work c a r r i e d  ou t  on t h e  s i t e .  

Yours f a i t h f u l l y ,  

Tom Hynes 

TOM HYNES" 

Tom, however, s a y s  t h a t  t h e  s i g n a t u r e  on t h i s  l e t t e r  i s  



not  h i s .  John admi ts  t h a t  he wrote t h e  l e t t e r  and s igned  Tom's 

name t o  it b u t  d e n i e s  t h a t  Tom is t h e  e a r l i e r  b u i l d i n g  c o n t r a c t o r  

r e f e r r e d  t o  i n  i t .  He main ta ins  t h a t  a f t e r  he,  John, bought 

t h e  waterworks bus ines s  from Tom i n  1969 he cont inued t o  use 

t h e  name "Tom Hynes" a s  a t r a d i n g  name and t h a t  he himself  

is t h e  ear l ier  b u i l d i n g  c o n t r a c t o r  r e f e r r e d  t o .  

One grave  embarrassment t o  John a f t e r  Tom's bankruptcy 

was t h a t  cheques p a i d  t o  workers working on group waterwork 

schemes and drawn on Tom's bank account  i n  Wicklow were r e tu rned  

by t h e  bank. During t h e  course  of t h e  bank s t r i k e  many of 

t h e  workers employed on t h e  group waterwork schemes had cashed 

t h e s e  cheques w i t h  l o c a l  t r a d e r s .  When t h e s e  cheques were 

r e t u r n e d  by t h e  bank t h e  damage done t o  t h e  c r e d i t  of t h e  group 

waterworks c o n t r a c t o r  ( b e  he Tom Hynes o r  John Hynes) was 

enormous. John had t o  make arrangements f o r  t h e  payment of 

t h e s e  cheques over  t i m e .  

H e  a l s o  p a i d  o t h e r  d e b t s  i n c l u d i n g  sums due t o  t h e  Wicklow 

Hote l  i n  Dublin. Tom main ta ins  t h a t  t h e  moneysdue t o  t h e  Wicklow 

Hotel  i n  Dublin were i n  r e s p e c t  of  wages cheques which he had 

cashed t h e r e .  John s a y s  t h a t  some of t h e s e  were socialobligationsa 

Tom's o r  even of M r .  Nicholas Murphy and t h a t  when he ( John)  

d i scovered  t h i s  he dec l ined  t o  pay any more of t h e s e  deb t s .  

It  does however appear  t h a t  t h e  money which p a i d  t h e s e  deb ts  

came from t h e  on-going p r o f i t s  of t h e  waterworks bus iness .  

The p l a i n t i f f  i n  h i s  s t a t emen t  of  c la im cla ims t h a t  John 

pa id  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  deb t s  f o r  t h e  pe r iod  of some weeks a f t e r  

t h e  bankruptcy bu t  a l i s t  of c r e d i t o r s  i n  John ' s  handwri t ing 

found i n  t h e  f ami ly  home and produced a t  t h e  hea r ing  would 

appear  t o  i n d i c a t e  t h a t  John cont inued  t o  pay o f f  Tom's deb ts  

f o r  a p e r i o d  of a t  l e a s t  some months. The payment of t h e  debts  



i n  r e s p e c t  of t h e  waterworks m u s t  have taken  cons ide rab ly  longer .  

According t o  Tom, p a r t  of t h e  agreement between himself  

and John was t h a t  John was t o  t a k e  over Tom's l i a b i l i t i e s  t o  

Fos t e r  Finance Limi ted  i n  r e s p e c t  of p l a n t  and machinery h i r e d  

o r  l e a s e d  t o  t h e  bus ines s .  John, whi le  denying any gene ra l  

agreement w i t h  Tom, was prepared t o  e n t e r t a i n t h i s  p r o p o s i t i o n .  

H e  thought however t h a t  t h e  l i a b i l i t i e s  which t h e  h i r e  purchase 

company was e x p e c t i n g  him t o  assume were t o o  g r e a t .  He 

acco rd ing ly  a l lowed t h e  h i r e  purchase company t o  r eposses s  

t h e  machinery. The company s o l d  t h e  machinery a t  auc t ion  and 

proved f o r  t h e  ba lance  i n  Tom's bankruptcy.  John was subsequent ly  

a b l e  t o  buy i n  one of t h e  machines which he needed f o r  t h e  

waterworks a t  a  ba rga in  p r i c e .  

I n i t i a l l y  John used Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers Limited a s  

h i s  v e h i c l e  f o r  c a r r y i n g  on t h e  waterworks schemes. But l a t e r  

he used ano the r  company c a l l e d  Group Waterworks Limited.  I n  

some cases  he e n t e r e d  i n t o  c o n t r a c t s  under t h e  name of Group 

Waterworks Limi ted  bu t  i n  h i s  o f f i c e  f i l e s  used paper  of Pembroke 

C i v i l  Engineers  Limited f o r  copy l e t t e r s .  A s  a  r e s u 1 t . a  person 

r e a d i n g  t h e  o r i g i n a l  f i l e  i n  t h e  hands of t h e  customer would 

know t h a t  t h e  c o n t r a c t  was between t h a t  customer and a company 

c a l l e d  Group Waterworks Limited.  B u t  a  person r ead ing  t h e  

o f f i c e  f i l e  might be excused f o r  t h i n k i n g  t h a t  t h e  c o n t r a c t  

was between t h e  customer and Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers Limited. 

John says  he  used t h i s  dev ice  a s  an economy measure and i t  

should  be s a i d  t h a t  many of t h e  copy l e t t e r s ,  whi le  bea r ing  

t h e  heading Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers Limited,  a l s o  bear  a  stamp 

"Group Waterworks Limited" .  

The c o n f r o n t a t i o n  

An u n s a t i s f a c t o r y  f e a t u r e  of Tom's evidence was t h a t  he 



was very  poor on d e t a i l  and on d a t e s .  By c o n t r a s t  John appeared 

t o  have a  g r e a t  g ra sp  of d e t a i l .  Tom gave no d a t e  a s  t o  when 

he cons idered  John f i n a l l y  r e p u d i a t e d  t h e  agreement nor d i d  

he g ive  any ev idence  about c o n f r o n t i n g  John about h i s  a l l e g e d  

breach of c o n t r a c t .  

M r s .  Mary OIConnor, who w a s  known i n  t h e  fami ly  a s  Ena, 

was, g e n e r a l l y ,  on good terms wi th  bo th  he r  b r o t h e r s .  They 

were always welcome t o  s t a y  wi th  h e r ,  even f o r  p r o t r a c t e d  pe r iods ,  

i f  t h e i r  b u s i n e s s  took them t o  England. 

I n  1976 Ena had a  conve r sa t ion  wi th  Tom. She l a t e r  met 

John a t  t h e  o f f i c e s  a t  52 O'Connell  S t r e e t  and a v a i l e d  of t h e  

occas ion  t o  speak t o  him about what Tom had t o l d  h e r .  She 

s a i d  she  had heard  a  "weird and wonderful  s t o r y "  t o  t h e  e f f e c t  

t h a t  John had made an agreement w i t h  Tom which he d i d  not keep; 

t h a t  Tom had formed two companies, Pembroke C i v i l  Engineers 

Limited and Hibernian Cons t ruc t ion  Limited;  t h a t  t h e  waterworks 

would be pu t  i n t o  one of t h e s e  and t h a t  John would have c o n t r o l  

and would pay o f f  Tom's bankruptcy and then  s p l i t  t h e  bus iness  

"60 / 5 0 " .  

A t  t h i s  s t a g e  s h e  says  t h a t  John c o r r e c t e d  he r  and s a i d  

"60 / 40". L a t e r  s h e  says  he s a i d  t o  he r  " so  what can anybody 

do about it now". - 

She dec ided  t o  r e f e r  back t o  Tom t o  make s u r e  she  had 

h i s  s t o r y  r i g h t .  She d i d  t h i s  and about f o u r  weeks la ter  

she  spoke t o  John aga in .  She s a y s  John s a i d  t o  he r  "who w i l l  

you you b e l i e v e  - him o r  me?". But he a l s o  t o l d  h e r  t h a t  Pembroke 

had not t r a d e d  f o r  two years:  t h a t  he had c a r r i e d  on t h e  business  

i n  a d i f f e r e n t  name; and t h a t  he had no o b l i g a t i o n  t o  honour 

t h e  agreement which he had made wi th  Tom. H e  added t h a t  he 

had s t a r t e d  t o  keep t h e  agreement bu t  t h a t  a t  some s t a g e  he 



had  s a i d  t o  Tom " t h i s  c a n ' t  go  on:  you go n o r t h  and  I ' l l  go  

s o u t h w .  Mrs. O f c o n n o r  is u n s u r e  o f  t h e  e x a c t  d a t e s  o f  h e r  

a l l e g e d  i n t e r v i e w s  w i t h  John  i n  1976 .  But  a t  o n e  o f  them s h e  

s a y s  t h a t  t h e  q u e s t i o n  o f  t h e  l o a n  o f  E3,000.00 came up. She  

p u t  t o  him Tom's s i d e  of  t h e  s t o r y ;  how t h e  l o a n  had been a 

l o a n  o f  £ 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  t o  Tom; how John  had  come t o  Tom and  t o l d  

him t h a t  h i s  mo the r  had  a t t a c k e d  him v e r b a l l y  and  p h y s i c a l l y  

b e c a u s e  t h e  money h a d n ' t  b e e n  r e t u r n e d ;  and  how Tom had  g i v e n  

John £2 ,750 .00  t o  r e t u r n  t o  h i s  mo the r .  She  now r e p e a t e d  t h a t  

t h i s  £3 ,000 .00  w a s  a l o a n  which  t h e i r  mother  had  g i v e n  t o  Tom 

as a c a s h  i n j e c t i o n  i n t o  t h e  b u s i n e s s .  When John  d i d  n o t  

a c c e p t  t h i s  Ena a s k e d  t h e i r  mo the r  t o  come up f rom h e r  o f  £ i c e  down 

s t a i r s .  M r s .  Hynes came up. Ena r e p o r t e d  h e r  s t o r y .  When 

s h e  came t o  t h e  p o i n t  a b o u t  John h a v i n g  s a i d  t o  Tom t h a t  t h e i r  

mo the r  had  a s s a u l t e d  him v e r b a l l y  a n d  p h y s i c a l l y  t o  g e t  t h e  

f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  back  M r s .  Hynes s a i d ,  "As God i s  my judge  I n e v e r  

d i d " .  

John  t o o k  o u t  a p i e c e  of p a p e r  a n d  on i t  'he  w r o t e  down 

on o n e  s i d e  " J o h n ' s  s t o r y "  a n d  o n  t h e  o t h e r  s i d e  "Tom's s t o r y " .  

H e  l a te r  a d m i t t e d  f i r s t  t h a t  t h e  s t o r y  a b o u t  h i s  mother  

h a v i n g  a s s a u t l e d  him t o  g e t  t h e  £3 ,000 .00  back  w a s  a l i e .  

H e  s a id  h e  h a d  t o l d  t h i s  s t o r y  t o  Tom t o  g e t  t h e  money back  

f o r  h i s  mo the r .  L a t e r  he  a d m i t t e d  t h a t  t h e  whole  s t o r y  a b o u t  

t h e  f 3 , 0 0 0 . 0 0  b e i n g  a l o a n  t o  him was a l i e .  

A t  some s t a g e  John  t o r e  i n  two t h e  p i e c e  o f  p a p e r  

on which  h e  had  w r i t t e n  t h e  two r i v a l  s t o r i e s  and  walked  o u t  

o f  t h e  room. But  t h e  p a p e r  w a s  r e t r i e v e d ,  p i e c e d  t o g e t h e r ,  

and  p r o d u c e d  i n  e v i d e n c e  b y  Ena a t  t h e  t r i a l .  I n  f a c t ,  t h e  

two s t o r i e s  as w r i t t e n  down on  t h e  p i e c e  o f  p a p e r  d o  n o t  f u l l y ,  

o r  a c c u r a t e l y ,  r e f l e c t  e i t h e r  s t o r y  as t o l d  i n  e v i d e n c e  a t  



t h e  t r i a l .  But  what  is i n t e r e s t i n g  i s  t h a t  John h a s  w r i t t e n  

a t  t h e  e n d  o f  t h e  p i e c e  o f  p a p e r  t h e  q u e s t i o n  "Do b o t h  s t o r i e s  

t a l l y  c o r r e c t l y  o r  is  o n e  a  l i e ? " .  

M r s .  OIConnor  s a y s  s h e  made o n e  f u r t h e r  a p p r o a c h  t o  John 

i n  a n  e f f o r t  t o  r e s o l v e  t h e  d i s p u t e  be tween  h e r  b r o t h e r s .  

She  s a y s  s h e  a s k e d  John  what h e  was g o i n g  t o  do.  Shc s a y s  

John r e p l i e d  t h a t  t h e  b e s t  h e  c o u l d  d o  f o r  Tom w a s  t o  g i v e  

him f 1 0 , 0 0 0 . 0 0 .  S h e  p u t  t h i s  o f f e r  t o  Tom who r e j e c t e d  i t .  

John  d e n i e s  f l a t l y  t h a t  he  e v e r  made a n y  s u c h  o f f e r  o r  

t h a t  h e  made a n y  of  t h e  a l l e g e d  a d m i s s i o n s  a t t r i b u t c d  t o  him 

by  Mrs. OtConnor .  

I n  J u n e  1976 a h e a t e d  s c e n e  t o o k  p l a c e  between 

M r s .  O tConnor  a n d  John a t  t h e  o f f i c e s  i n  o * c o n n e l l  s t reet .  

I t  w a s  s u g g e s t e d  t h a t  t h i s  s c e n e  c o l o u r e d  M r s .  OuConnor  ' s  

a t t i t u d e  t o w a r d s  John  s o  t h a t  it  is  n e c e s s a r y  t o  s a y  s o m e t h i n g  

f u r t h e r  a b o u t  i t .  

John  a n d  Ena b o t h  had  o f f i c e s  f o r  t h e  p u r p o s e s  o f  t h e i r  

r e s p e c t i v e  b u s i n e s s e s  a t  52 Lower O I C o n n e l l  S t r e e t ,  Dubl in .  

But  John  was c ramped  f o r  s p a c e  a n d  Ena t o l d  him t h a t  h e  c o u l d  

u s e  h e r  o f f i c e s  f o r  h i s  p e r s o n a l  u s e  a n d  f o r  i n t e r v i e w i n g  c l i e n t s  - 
w h e n , s h e  w a s  away i n  Eng land .  I n  J u n e . 1 9 7 6  Ena d i s c o v e r e d  - 
t h a t  John  h a d ,  i n  e f f e c t ,  t a k e n  o v e r  h e r  o f f i c e s  and  moved 

some of h i s  s t a f f  a n d  o f f i c e  f u r n i t u r e  i n t o  them. A s c e n e  

t h e n  t o o k  p l a c e  be tween  Ena a n d  J o h n  a n d  Ena o r d e r e d  John t o  

remove h i s  f u r n i t u r e  o u t  o f  h e r  o f f i c e s .  John s e n t  f o r  one  

o f  h i s  s t a f f ,  M r .  W i l l i a m  G l a v i n ,  t o  ass is t  him i n  removing  

t h e  f u r n i t u r e .  H e  t h e n  a s k e d  M r .  G l a v i n ,  i n  Ens's p r e s e n c e ,  

"Who owns t h e  w a t e r w o r k s ? " .  M r .  G l a v i n  r e p l i e d ,  "You do ,  John".  

Ena h a s  n o t  spoken  t o  John  s i n c e .  

I t  w a s  s u g g e s t e d  t h a t  t h i s  row be tween  Ena and  John  o v e r  



John ' s  a t t empt  t o  t a k e  over  he r  o f f i c e  exp la ined  t h e  a n t i p a t h y  

which Ena showed towards John a t  t h e  t r i a l .  I do not  accep t  

t h i s .  I t  appears  t o  me t h a t  t h e  r e a l  cause  of t h e  row between 

Ena and John w a s  h e r  i n d i g n a t i o n  a t  what she  regarded a s  h i s  

shabby t r ea tmen t  of Tom. The row over  John ' s  a t t empt  t o  t ake  

over  her  o f f i c e  was merely t h e  occas ion  on which her  i nd igna t ion  

broke o u t .  That  John unders tood t h i s  is ,  it appears  t o  me, 

i l l u s t r a t e d  by t h e  f a c t  of h i s  s end ing  f o r  M r .  Galvin and ask ing  

him t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  "Who owns t h e  waterworks?" 

S t a t u t e  of Frauds 

The defendant  ma in t a in s  t h a t  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement between 

him and Tom, be ing  a c o n t r a c t  no t  t o  be performed wi th in  t h e  

space of one yea r  from t h e  making t h e r e o f ,  r e q u i r e d  t o  be 

evidenced by a memorandum i n  w r i t i n g  and t h a t  t h e r e  i s  no such 

memorandum i n  e x i s t e n c e .  The p l a i n t i f f  den ie s  t h a t  t h e  a l l e g e d  

agreement r e q u i r e d  t o  be evidenced i n  w r i t i n g  but  p l eads  t h a t ,  

i n  any e v e n t ,  t h e r e  was p a r t  performance on t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  

p a r t  s u f f i c i e n t  t o  t a k e  t h e  case o u t  of t h e  S t a t u t e  of  Frauds. 

The evidence of p a r t  performance is ex t remely  tenuous.  It  

amounts t o  l i t t l e  more than  t h e  w r i t i n g  of l e t t e r s ,  no copies  

of which have been produced. One might a l s o  s a y  t h a t  t h e  

p l a i n t i f f  co-operated i n  t h e  takeover  by John o r  h i s  company 

of t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  bus ines s  and t h a t  such co-operat ion must 

have been n e c e s s a r y  t o  John a t  t h i s  t ime and was c o n s i s t e n t  

wi th  a c o n t r a c t  such  a s  a l l e g e d .  But he re  aga in  t h e  evidence 

i s  very  vague. 

However, t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  p r i n c i p a l  submission is t h a t  

t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement was no t  governed by t h e  S t a t u t e  of Frauds 

a t  a l l .  I n  d e c i d i n g  whether an agreement was an agreement 



" n o t  t o  be performed w i t h i n  t h e  s p a c e  o f  one y e a r  from t h e  

making t h e r e o f "  one looks  a t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  which p r e v a i l e d  

a t  t h e  t i m e  when t h e  agreement  was made and a t  t h e  i n t e n t i o n s  

of  t h e  p a r t i e s .  There  w a s  no i n t e n t i o n  t h a t  t h e  agreement 

shou ld  n o t  b e  comple ted  w i t h i n  t h e  s p a c e  of  one y e a r .  I t  

would a p p e a r  t h a t  t h e  i n t e n t i o n  was t h a t  t h e  implementa t ion  

of t h e  agreement  s h o u l d  commence immedia te ly  and t h a t  t h e  

comple t ion  of  t h e  agreement  s h o u l d  t a k e  p l a c e  a s  soon a s  p o s s i b l e .  

The e v i d e n c e  o f  M r .  Edmund Burke throws some l i g h t  on 

t h e  i n t e n t i o n  of  t h e  p a r t i e s  a b o u t  t h e  t i m e  of  t h e  making of  

t h e  agreement .  A t  t h e  mee t ing  i n  J u r y ' s  H o t e l  w i t h  John and 

Tom a t  a b o u t  t h e  t i m e  o f  Tom's b a n k r u p t c y  M r .  Burke unders tood  

t h a t  t h e r e  was come scheme t o  pay o f f  Tom's bankruptcy .  Witness 

e n q u i r e d  how l o n g  i t  would t a k e  t o  which Tom r e p l i e d  t h a t  he 

though t  i t  would t a k e  a  y e a r  o r  s o  f o r  him " t o  come back" .  

I am s a t i s f i e d  t h a t  t h e r e  was no i n t e n t i o n  t h a t  t h e  

agreement  s h o u l d  n o t  be  performed w i t h i n  t h e  s p a c e  .of one y e a r  

from t h e  making t h e r e o f  and I am satisfied a l s o  t h a t  i t  was 

n o t  a n  agreement  which ,  f rom i t s  n a t u r e ,  p r e c l u d e d  s u c h  

performance.  I am s a t i s f i e d  t h e r e f o r e  t h a t  it was n o t  an  

agreement  " n o t  t o  b e  performed w i t h i n  t h e  s p a c e  o f  one y e a r  

from t h e  making t h e r e o f "  and t h a t  t h e  S t a t u r e  of  Frauds  does  

no t  a p p l y  t o  i t .  

S t a t u t e  o f  L i m i t a t i o n s  

I now t u r n  t o  t h e  a s p e c t  of  t h e  c a s e  which has  caused  ' 

m e  g r e a t e s t  d i f f i c u l t y .  

The d e f e n d a n t  p l e a d s  t h a t  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  c l a i m ,  even 

i f  w e l l  founded,  is s t a t u t e  b a r r e d .  

The d a t e  o f  t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement  is J a n u a r y  1971. The 



p r e s e n t  p r o c e e d i n g s  were i n s t i t u t e d  on t h e  1st o f  Augus t ,  1978 

T h e r e  was no l e t t e r  w r i t t e n  by  o r  on  b e h a l f  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

p r i o r  t o  t h e  i n s t i t u t i o n  of  p r o c e e d i n g s  a n d  no c lear  s t a t e m e n t  

f rom him as t o  when h e  r e g a r d e d  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  as h a v i n g  

r e p u d i a t e d  t h e  a g r e e m e n t .  Tom's a p p a r a n t  i n a c t i v i t y  between 

1 9 7 1  and  1978 is  d i f f i c u l t  t o  e x p l a i n  e v e n  b e a r i n g  i n  mind 

t h a t  d u r i n g  a l l  t h a t  t i m e  he  w a s  a n  u n d i s c h a r g e d  b a n k r u p t .  

I t  d o e s  a p p e a r  f r o m  h i s  e v i d e n c e  however t h a t  f o r  some t i m e  

p r i o r  t o  J u l y  1 9 7 8  h e  was u r g i n g  t h e  O f f i c i a l  A s s i g n e e  t o  

o b t a i n  p e r m i s s i o n  f o r  t h e  i n s t i t u t i o n  o f  t h e  p r e s e n t  p r o c e e d i n g s .  

P e r m i s s i o n  w a s  o b t a i n e d  f rom t h e  B a n k r u p t c y  C o u r t  f o r  t h e  i s s u e  

of  t h e  p r o c e e d i n g s  on the  3 1 s t  o f  J u l y  1978  and  t h e  P l e n a r y  

Summons w a s  i s s u e d  o n  t h e  1st o f  A u g u s t ,  1978 .  

The r e l e v a n t  p o r t i o n  o f  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  s t a t e m e n t  o f  claim 

s t a t e s  h i s  claim as f o l l o w s : -  

" I n  or  a r o u n d  t h e  1 3 t h  d a y  o f '  J a n u a r y  1 9 7 1  t h e  f i r s t  

named p l a i n t i f f  e n t e r e d  i n t o  a n  ag reemen t  w i t h  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  

whereby  c e r t a i n  compan ie s ,  namely Pembroke C i v i l  E n g i n e e r i n g  

L i m i t e d  a n d  H i b e r n i a  C o n s t r u c t i o n  L i m i t e d ,  would b e  formed 

b y  t h e  d e f e n d a n t .  I t  was a g r e e d ,  i n t e r  a l i a ,  be tween  

t h e  p a r t i e s  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  would have  t h e  c o n t r o l l i n g  

i n t e r e s t  i n  t h e  said compan ie s  a n d  i t  w a s  f u r t h e r  a g r e e d  

t h a t  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  would s e e k  o u t  a n d  g e n e r a t e  

b u s i n e s s  wh ich  would be c a r r i e d  o u t  by  t h e  s a i d  companies .  

r( I t  w a s  f u r t h e r  a g r e e d  be tween  t h e  f i r s t ~ n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  

a n d  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  t h a t  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  would b e  employed 

by  t h e  compan ie s  a n d  he  would b e  p a i d  a wage e q u i v a l e n t  

t o  t h a t  which  h 6  had  b e e n  p r e v i o u s l y  p a i d  when work ing  

f o r  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  p e r s o n a l l y .  The r e m u n e r a t i o n  
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w a s  t o  i n c l u d e  e x p e n s e s .  I t  w a s  f u r t h e r  a g r e e d  t h a t  a l l  

p r o f i t s  o f  t h e  sa id  companies  would  go t o  d i s c h a r g e  t h e  

f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i n t i f f ' s  d e b t s ,  t h e  s u b j e c t - m a t t e r  o f  t h e  

s a i d  b a n k r u p t c y .  On t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  b e i n g  d i s c h a r g e d  

f rom t h i s  b a n k r u p t c y  t h e  p r o f i t s  o f  t h e  s a id  companies  

would be s h a r e d  a s  t o  60% b y  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  

a n d  40% by  t h e  d e f e n d a n t .  

"The d e f e n d a n t  p e r f o r m e d  t h e  s a i d  ag reemen t  f o r  a  

number o f  weeks a n d  h a s  s i n c e  f a i l e d ,  n e g l e c t e d  and  r e f u s e d  

t o  honour  same. 

"As a c o n s e q u e n c e  o f  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  f a i l u r e  t o  honour  

h i s  commitments u n d e r  a n d  by v i r t u e  o f  t h e  s a i d  c o n t r a c t  

t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  h a s  i n c u r r e d  l o s s ,  damage and  

e x p e n s e .  " 

The r e l i e i  claimed i n  t h e  S t a t e m e n t  o f  C l a i m  w a s  as f o l l o w s : -  

" ( 1 )  S p e c i f i c  p e r f o r m a n c e  o f  a n  ag reemen t  e n t e r e d  i n t o  

be tween  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  p l a i n t i f f  o f  t h e  one  p a r t  

a n d  t h e  d e f e n d a n t  o f  t h e  o t h e r  p a r t  whereby t h e  

. d e f e n d a n t  a g r e e d  t o  t r a n s f e r  t o  t h e  f i r s t - n a m e d  

p l a i n t i f f  60% s h a r e h o l d i n g  i n t e r e s t  i n  Pembroke 
I 

C i v i l  E n g i n e e r i n g  L i m i t e d  a n d  H i b e r n i a  C o n s t r u c t i o n  I 
! 

L i m i t e d .  * 

( 2 )  Damages f o r  b r e a c h  of c o n t r a c t .  

( 3 )  An O r d e r  f o r  t h e  t a k i n g  o f  a l l  n e c e s s a r y  a c c o u n t s  

a n d  e n q u i r i e s .  
. . 

( 4 )  An a c c o u n t  o f  t h e  p r o f i t s  o f  t h e  s a i d  companies .  

( 5 )  F u r t h e r  o t h e r  a n d  a l t e r n a t i v e  r e l i e f .  
- .  

( 6 )  C o s t s . "  - -  

A t  a n  e a r l y  s t a g e  i n  t h e  p r o c e e d i n g s  I i n v i t e d  c o u n s e l  I 

f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  t o  c o n s i d e r  t h e  p l e a d i n g s  as I d i d  n o t  see 
1 



how some of t h e  r e l i e f  claimed i n  t h e  Statement of Claim could 

be ob ta ined  on t h e  b a s i s  of t h e  c a s e  as pleaded.  No a p p l i c a t i o n  

was however made t o  amend t h e  p l ead ings  u n t i l  a f t e r  t h e  

conc lus ion  of t h e  case, i n  t h e  c i rcumstances  h e r e i n a f t e r  

descr ibed .  

A s  p r e v i o u s l y  s t a t e d  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  pleaded i n  h i s  Statement 

of C l a i m  t h a t  t h e  defendant  had performed t h e  s a i d  agreement 

f o r  a  number of weeks and t h a t  he had s i n c e  f a i l e d ,  neg lec ted  

and r e f u s e d  t o  honour same. 

On t h e  20 th  of  November, 1980 t h e  de fendan t ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  

wrote t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  a  l e t t e r  demanding 

p a r t i c u l a r s  i n  which t h e y  asked ( a t  paragraph 5 )  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  

(a) t h e  weeks and yea r  i n  r e s p e c t  of which it is  a l l e g e d  t h a t  

t h e  defendant  performed t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement: and 

( b )  t h e  d a t e  on 'which i t  .is a l l e g e d  t h e  defendant f a i l e d  t o -  

honour t h e  a l l e g e d  agreement. 

The p l a i n t i f f ' s  s o l i c i t o r s  r e p l i e d  t o  t h i s  query by l e t t e r  

da t ed  t h e  1 8 t h  of  December 1980 i n  which t h e y  s t a t e  a t  paragraph 

5 t h e  fo l lowing  - 

" ( a )  The p l a i n t i f f  contends t h a t  t h e  de f indan t  p a r t  

performed t h e  s a i d  agreement f o r  approximately f i v e  

weeks from t h e  d a t e  of t h e  s a i d  agreement i n  

January ,  197  1 

( b )  See ( a )  above." - 

Despi te  t h i s  p l e a  it seems c l e a r  from t h e  e v i d e n c e . t h a t  

John must have performed a t  l e a s t  some of t h e  terms of t h e  

agreement f o r  c o n s i d e r a b l y  l onge r  t h a n  t h i s  for i t  must have 

taken  cons ide rab ly  l onge r  t o  pay o f f  t h e  men's wages-cheques 

which had been r e t u r n e d  a t - t h e  conc lus ion  of t h e  bank s t r i k e .  



r Moreover, i f  as I a c c e p t ,  t h e  l o a n  of  £3,000.00 was t o  Tom f o r  

t h e  purpose  o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s ,  and a s  I a l s o  a c c e p t ,  was a p p l i e d  

by him f o r  t h a t  p u r p o s e ,  t h e  repaymentby  John t o  h i s  mother 

o f  E250 i n  F e b r u a r y  1974, b e i n g  p a r t  of  t h a t  l o a n ,  would 

! r e p r e s e n t  t h e  f u l f i l m e n t  by John ,  of  one of h i s  o b l i g a t i o n s  

r under  t h e  agreement .  

Both p a r t i e s  are  a g r e e d ,  and I a c c e p t ,  t h a t  once t h e  S t a t u t e  

o f  L i m i t a t i o n s  is p l e a d e d  a s  a  d e f e n c e  t h e  onus o f  p r o v i n g  

t h a t  t h e  c a s e  i s  n o t  s t a t u t e  b a r r e d  rests on t h e  p l a i n t i f f .  
P 

- - . . The p l a i n t i f f ,  i n  h i s  r e p l y  t o  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ' s  d e f e n c e ,  

d e n i e s  t h a t  h i s  c l a i m  i s  s t a t u t e  b a r r e d  b u t  does  n o t  p l e a d  

any s p e c i a l  d e f e n c e  under  t h e  S t a t u t e  o f  L i m i t a t i o n s .  

A t  t h e  c o n c l u s i o n  of t h e  c a s e  I was s a t i s f i e d  t h a t  a  meeting 

d i d  i n  f a c t  t a k e  p l a c e  i n  J u r y ' s  H o t e l  between John,  Tom and 

Edmund Burke a t  o r  a b o u t  t h e  t i m e  of  Tom's bankrup tcy  where 

John a d m i t t e d  t o  Edmund Burke t h a t  he w a s  "minding t h e  b u s i n e s s  

f o r  Tom". I t  a p p e a r e d  t o  m e  t h a t  t h i s  d i v e r s i o n  was c o n s i s t e n t  

w i t h  some k i n d  o f  p r i v a t e  a r rangement  between t h e  b r o t h e r s  

of  t h e  k i n d - f o r  which Tom contended.  I t  a l s o  o c c u r r e d  t o  m e  

t h a t  S e c t i o n  4 4 ,  p a r a g r a p h  ( b )  of  t h e  S t a t u t e  o f  L i m i t a t i o n s  

1957 might  have  some r e l e v a n c e  i n  t h i s  c o n t e x t  a s  might  a l s o  

t h e  case of T i t o  -v- Waddell  (1977 3  A l l  England Repor t s  

page 1 2 9 )  and i n  p a r t i c u l a r  t h e  judgment o f  MeGarry V.C.  i n  

t h a t  case. 

I a c c o r d i n g l y  r e - e n t e r e d  t h e  case t o  h e a r  C o u n s e l ' s  

P' 
submiss ions  on t h e s e  p o i n t s .  Counse l  were a g r e e d  t h a t  S e c t i o n  

4 4  o f  t h e  S t a t u t e s  of L i m i t a t i o n s  A c t  1957 and t h e  d e c i s i o n  

P i n  T i t o  -v- Waddell  w e r e  o f  no r e l e v a n c e  t o  t h e  p r e s e n t  c a s e  

as p l e a d e d .  Counsel  f o r  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  d i d  however, a t  t h a t  

s t a g e ,  a p p l y  t o  amend t h e  p l e a d i n g s  by  p l e a d i n g  S e c t i o n  4 4  



f o r  t h e  d e f e n d a n t ,  opposed t h i s  a p p l i c a t i o n  on t h e  grounds I 
t h a t ,  b o t h  p a r t i e s  h a v i n g  c l o s e d  t h e i r  r e s p e c t i v e  c a s e s ,  and I 
t h e  w i t n e s s e s  h a v i n g  been examined and cross-examined on t h e  I 
b a s i s  of  one se t  o f  p l e a d i n g s ,  i t  would n o t  be f a i r  t o  amend 

t h e  p l e a d i n g s  now. I though t  t h a t  d e f e n c e  C o u n s e l ' s  submiss ion  

on t h i s  p o i n t  was c o r r e c t  and I a c c o r d i n g l y  r e f u s e d  t h e  
I 
I 

a p p l i c a t i o n .  

Counsel  f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  a d m i t s  t h a t  t h e  p roceed ings  

i n  t h e  p r e s e n t  c a s e  h a v i n g  been i s s u e d  on August 1st 1978, 

t h e  onus is  on him t o  show t h a t  t h e  c a u s e  o f  a c t i o n  i n  r e s p e c t  I 
o f  which he c l a i m s  r e l i e f  a r o s e  s i n c e  August 1st 1972. H e  I 
a d m i t s  t h a t  H i b e r n i a  C o n s t r u c t i o n  L i m i t e d  never  t r a d e d  and 

t h a t  he can  o b t a i n  no e f f e c t i v e  r e l i e f  i n  r e s p e c t  of  t h a t  p o r t i o n  1 

o f  t h e  b u s i n e s s .  But s o  f a r  a s  t h e  waterworks b u s i n e s s  was 

concerned he  s u b m i t s  t h a t  t h e  agreement  between t h e  two b r o t h e r s  

w a s  one whereby t h e  ongoing p r o f i t s  of  t h e  b u s i n e s s  were t o  I 
be a p p l i e d  f rom t i m e  t o  t ime  i n  payment o f  t h e  c r e d i t o r s  e n t i t l e d .  

-. 

i n  t h e  p l a i n t i f f ' s  b a n k r u p t c y  and t h a t  t h e r e a f t e r  t h e y  were 

t o  b e  d i v i d e d  a s  t o  60% t o  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  and 40% t o  t h e  de fendan t .  

The agreement  was t h e r e f o r e  one which p l a c e d  on t h e  de fendan t  

a n  ongoing series o f  o b l i g a t i o n s  and  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  c o u l d  s u e  

i n  r e s p e c t  o f  e a c h  d e f a u l t  a s  e a c h  g i v e  r ise  t o  a s e p a r a t e  

c a u s e  of  a c t i o n .  I n  t h e ' p r e s e n t  c a s e  t h e  r e l i e f  which t h e  

p l a i n t i f f  w a s  s e e k i n g  was an  a c c o u n t  o f  t h e  p r o f i t s  of t h e  

waterworks b u s i n e s s  l i m i t e d  t o  6  y e a r s  p r i o r  t o  t h e  d a t e  of 

a c t i o n  b rough t  and up t o  t h e  d a t e  o f  Judgment o r  Order i n  t h e  

case. 

The o n l y  c l e a r  e v i d e n c e  w e  have  o f  t o t a l  r e p u d i a t i o n  by 

John o f  h i s  o b l i g a t i o n s  under  t h e  a l l e g e d  c o n t r a c t  comes from 
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M r s .  Mary OIConnor and d a t e s  from 1976. I a c c e p t  

M r s .  OIConnor ' s  v e r s i o n  of  what happened between h e r  and John 

a t  t h e  t h r e e  i n t e r v i e w s  i n  1976. From h e r  accoun t  it would 

a p p e a r  t h a t  a t  d i f f e r e n t  times John d e n i e d  t h a t  he had any 

s u c h  agreement  w i t h  Tom; a d m i t t e d  t h a t  he had such  an  

agreement  b u t  con tended  t h a t  no one c o u l d  f o r c e  him t o  honour 

i t ;  a d m i t t e d  t h a t  he had s u c h  a n  agreement  b u t  contended t h a t  

a s  he had o n l y  used Pembroke C i v i l  E n g i n e e r i n g  L imi ted  a s  h i s  

v e h i c l e  f o r  c a r r y i n g  on t h e  waterworks  b u s i n e s s  f o r  a p e r i o d  

of two y e a r s ,  he corlld n o t  be f o r c e d  t o  honour t h e  

agreement ;  a d m i t t e d  t h a t  he had s t a r t e d  t o  keep t h e  agreement 

b u t  t h a t  a t  some s t a g e  he had r e p u d i a t e d  i t  s a y i n g  t o  Tom 

" t h i s  can' t  go on: you go n o r t h  and I ' l l  go s o u t h " .  F i n a l l y  

I a c c e p t  t h a t  John o f f e r e d  Tom f 1 0 , 0 0 0  i n  s e t t l e m e n t  of  Tom's 

c l a i m s  under  t h e  agreement .  

I a c c e p t  t h e  e v i d e n c e  which M r s .  OIConnor gave i n  r e s p e c t  

of  t h e s e  matters. H e r  e v i d e n c e  may be  i n a c c u r a t e  i n  p a r t i c u l a r s  

b u t  I a c c e p t  i t  a s  b e i n g  t r u e  i n  a l l  e s s e n t i a l s .  I n  p a r t i c u l a r ,  

I a c c e p t  t h a t  John s a i d  t h e  t h i n g s  which s h e  a t t r i b u t e d  t o  

him. Though it d o e s  n o t  f o l l o w  from t h i s  t h a t  I a c c e p t  t h a t  

e v e r y t h i n g  - t h a t  John s a i d  was t r u e .  . . 

I do ,  however,  a c c e p t  t h a t  a t  t h e  end of  t h e  s c e n e  between 

John and Ena i n  ~ u n e  1976 John s e n t  f o r  M r .  Wi l l i am G l a v i n  

and asked  him t h e  q u e s t i o n  "Who owns t h e  waterworks!" t o  which 

M r .  G lav in  r e p l i e d  "You do John" .  I t o t a l l y  a c c e p t  M r .  Glavin  

a s  b e i n g  a n  h o n e s t  w i t n e s s  and t h a t  t h e  answer he gave was 

t h e  t r u t h  a s  he  u n d e r s t o o d  i t .  I b e l i e v e ,  however, t h a t  John 

knew t h a t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  was o t h e r w i s e  and t h a t  t h i s  i n c i d e n t ,  

even on J o h n ' s  c a s e ,  marks t h e  f i n a l  r e p u d i a t i o n  by John o f  

h i s  o b l i g a t i o n s  t o  Tom under  t h e  agreement . .  I a l s o  h o l d  t h a t  



t h e  winding down af Pernbroke E n g i n e e r i n g  L i m i t e d  and t h e  

d ivers ign  'of t h e  g roup  wa te rworks  b u s i n e s s  e l s e w h e r e  w a s  a 

c o n s c i o u s  e f f o r t  by  John t o  evade  h i s  o b l i g a t i o n s  t o  Tom under 

t h e  agreement .  

I n  a l l  t h e s e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  I a c c e p t  t h a t  t h e  submiss ion  

o f  Counsel  f o r  t h e  p l a i n t i f f  is c o r r e c t  and t h a t  he  has made 

o u t  h i s  case f o r  t h e  l i m i t e d  r e l i e f  which he  c l a i m s .  I w i l l ,  

a c c o r d i n g l y ,  d i s c u s s  w i t h  Counsel  t h e  form which t h e  accoun t  

is t o  t a k e .  


